# **Distribution Agreement**

In presenting this thesis or dissertation as a partial fulfillment of the requirements for an advanced degree from Emory University, I hereby grant to Emory University and its agents the non-exclusive license to archive, make accessible, and display my thesis or dissertation in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter known, including display on the world wide web. I understand that I may select some access restrictions as part of the online submission of this thesis or dissertation. I retain all ownership rights to the copyright of the thesis or dissertation. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of this thesis or dissertation.

Signature:

Ryan Saelee

10/18/2021 Date

## A Life Course Approach to Racial/ethnic and Sex/Gender Disparities in Sleep Duration and Implications on Cardiometabolic Risk in Adulthood

By

Ryan Saelee Doctor of Philosophy Epidemiology

Shakira F. Suglia, ScD, MS Chair

Julie A. Gazmararian, PhD, MPH Co-Chair

Regine Haardörfer, PhD, MEd, MS Committee Member

Dayna A. Johnson, PhD, MPH, MSW, MS Committee Member

Accepted:

Kimberly Jacob Arriola, PhD Dean of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies

Date

## A Life Course Approach to Racial/Ethnic and Sex/Gender Disparities in Sleep Duration and Implications on Cardiometabolic Risk in Adulthood

By

Ryan Saelee MPH, University of California, Berkeley, 2016 BA, University of California, Berkeley, 2012

Advisors: Shakira F. Suglia, ScD, MS and Julie A. Gazmararian, PhD, MPH

An abstract of A dissertation submitted to the Faculty of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Epidemiology 2021

# ABSTRACT

# A Life Course Approach to Racial/ethnic and Sex/Gender Disparities in Sleep Duration and Implications on Cardiometabolic Risk in Adulthood

# By Ryan Saelee

Cardiometabolic diseases remain the leading causes of morbidity and mortality in the U.S. with sleep as a significant risk factor. Race and sex disparities in sleep duration have been documented, with limited studies examining these disparities across developmental periods. Additionally, few studies have explored the impact of sleep duration across the life span on adult cardiometabolic risk factors (CRFs). Furthermore, racial disparities in adolescent sleep are well established but contributors of these disparities are largely unknown. This dissertation sought to address these gaps using data from the National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent to Adult Health.

Aim 1 examined whether neighborhood (socioeconomic disadvantage, social cohesion, and safety) and household (socioeconomic status (HSES) and single parent household) environments mediated racial differences in adolescent sleep duration. Results suggested, although HSES partially explained racial disparities, higher HSES was positively associated with short sleep duration. Future work should explore mechanisms linking varying levels of HSES to short sleep duration within each racial/ethnic group and identify buffers to reduce the detrimental impacts of HSES on sleep.

Aim 2 investigated racial/ethnic and sex/gender differences in sleep duration trajectories from adolescence to adulthood. Three trajectory types by race and sex were found: 1) Consistent Increasing Short Sleepers (i.e., increasing probability of short sleep into adulthood); 2) Late Onset Short Sleepers (i.e., no probability of short sleep in adolescence, but in adulthood); and 3) Early Onset Short Sleepers (i.e., declining probability of short sleep from adolescence into adulthood). The prevalence of Consistent Increasing Short Sleepers was highest among African American males, Late Onset Short Sleepers was highest among White females, and Early Onset Short Sleepers was the greatest among Latinx males.

Aim 3 assessed racial/ethnic and sex/gender differences in the association between sleep duration trajectories and adult CRFs. Females, regardless of race, and White males with a Consistent Increasing Short Sleeper trajectory generally had a lower prevalence of CRFs than Early or Late Onset Short Sleepers. There was a higher prevalence of dyslipidemia for African American males and elevated C-reactive protein for Latinx males among Early and Late Onset Short Sleepers.

Altogether, findings highlight the need for a life course approach and intervention during adolescence to improve adult cardiometabolic health.

## A Life Course Approach to Racial/Ethnic and Sex/Gender Disparities in Sleep Duration and Implications on Cardiometabolic Risk in Adulthood

By

Ryan Saelee MPH, University of California, Berkeley, 2016 BA, University of California, Berkeley, 2012

Advisors: Shakira F. Suglia, ScD, MS and Julie A. Gazmararian, PhD, MPH

A dissertation submitted to the Faculty of the James T. Laney School of Graduate Studies of Emory University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Epidemiology 2021

## ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This dissertation would not have been possible without the support and guidance of my dissertation committee. Shakira Suglia, thank you for your unwavering support and belief in me these past 5 years and for providing me with career and life advice. Julie Gazmararian, thank you for your time, support, and for always being so detail-oriented. Together, you two were the best chair and co-chair that any student could have asked for. Dayna Johnson, thank you for providing me with all the sleep knowledge and insightful feedback. Regine Haardörfer, thank you for always being willing to discuss methodological issues and for being so encouraging.

I will forever be grateful to my cohort: Meghan Angley, Lasha Clarke, Rob Driggers, Minxuan Huang, Kevin Maloney, Kristin Marks, Izzy McKinnon, Danielle Sharpe, Regina Simeone, and Alyssa Troeschel. Without you all, I would not have been able to get through Prob Theory, let alone, the program. Most importantly, thank you for all the wonderful memories.

I would also like to recognize other Department of Epidemiology students, staff, and faculty. Miriam Van Dyke, Veronica Lee, Monica Shah, Lindsay Colin, and Iris Shao, thank you for always checking in on me and introducing me to some of the best restaurants in Atlanta. Tené T. Lewis, Viola Vaccarino, and Samaah Sullivan, thank you for your mentorship. Furthermore, I would like to thank the students of Behavioral, Social, and Health Education Sciences, especially Ilana Raskind and Leslie Salas for all the support and laughter.

I wish to express my deepest gratitude to my mentors, friends, and family who support me from near and far. Thank you Mahasin Mujahid for your continuing support and for helping me get into this program. Thank you Daniel Cao, Steven Trinh, Bonjern Yang, Isra Ahmad, Maneet Kaur, Sara Aghaee, and Sally Hwang for all the visits, memes, and affirmations. Randi J. Holtz, thank you for your unconditional support, humor, and patience. Lastly, I would like to thank my siblings and my parents, especially, because without their courage to risk their lives to escape to the U.S., I would not be here.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

Chapter 1: Introduction Background and Literature Review Cardiometabolic Disease Burden and Health Risk Behaviors Mechanisms Linking Sleep Duration to Cardiometabolic Health	<b>.1</b> .1 .1
Racial/ethnic and Sex/Gender Disparities in Sleep Duration among Adolescents and Adults	.2
Sleep Duration across the Life Course	.5
Neighborhood and Household Environment as Contributors to Racial Disparities in	l
Adolescents	.7
Study Aims	.9
Study Population	10
Contributions to the Literature/Public Health Importance	11
Chapter 2: Neighborhood and Household Environment as Contributors to Racial	
Disparities in Sleep Duration among U.S. Adolescents	13
Abstract	13
Introduction	14
Methods	16
Results	21
Discussion	24
Chapter 3: Racial/Ethnic and Sex/Gender Differences in Sleep Duration	
Trajectories from Adolescence to Adulthood in a National U.S. Sample	36
Abstract	36
Introduction	37
Methods	41
Results	45
Discussion	48
Chanter 4: Pacial/Ethnic and Sov/Gonder Differences in the Association between	
Sleep Duration Trajectories from Adolescence to Adulthood and Adult	
Cardiometabolic Risk	63
Abstract	63
Introduction	64
Methods	66
Results	71
Discussion	74
Chanter 5: Public Health Implications and Future Research	<b>81</b>
Public Health Impact	84
Future research	86
	50
Funding	89
References	90

# LIST OF TABLES

<b>Table 2-1.</b> Sample Characteristics by Race/Ethnicity from Waves I and II of the        National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent to Adult Health, United States, 1994-9631
<b>Table 2-2.</b> Results from Structural Equation Model of the Association betweenRace/ethnicity and Short Sleep Duration as Mediated by Neighborhood and FamilyEnvironmental Factors32
<b>Supplemental Table 2-1.</b> Sensitivity Analysis examining the Association Between Race/ethnicity and Very Short Sleep Duration (< 6 hours) Mediated by Neighborhood and Family Environmental Factors
<b>Table 3-1.</b> Participant Characteristics by Race/Ethnicity and Sex/Gender from Waves I,III, IV, and V of the National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent to Adult Health, UnitedStates, 1994-2018
<b>Table 3-2.</b> Distribution of Growth Mixture Model Short Sleep Duration Trajectories byRace/Ethnicity and Sex/Gender, United States, 1994-201857
<b>Supplemental Table 3-1.</b> Comparison of Analytical Sample to Excluded Sample from Waves I, III, IV, and V of the National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent to Adult Health, United States, 1994-2018
<b>Supplemental Table 3-2.</b> Growth Mixture Model Fit Indicators for Short Sleep Duration Trajectories by Race/Ethnicity and Sex/Gender, United States, 1994-2018
<b>Supplemental Table 3-3.</b> Multi-Group Growth Mixture Model Results - Estimated Probabilities across Developmental Periods for Each Trajectory Type by Race/Ethnicity and Sex/Gender, United States, 1994-2018 (n=12,593)
<b>Table 4-1.</b> Sample Characteristics by Race/Ethnicity and Sex/Gender for Analysis on the Association between Sleep Duration Trajectories and Cardiometabolic Risk Factors from the National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent to Adult Health, United States, 1994-2018
<b>Table 4-2.</b> Results for the Association between Sleep Duration Trajectories andCardiometabolic Risk Factors in Wave V of the National Longitudinal Study ofAdolescent to Adult Health, United States, 1994-2018
Supplemental Table 4-1. Comparison of Characteristics between Analytic Sample in Regression Models to those Excluded
<b>Supplemental Table 4-2.</b> Weighted Results for the Association between Sleep Duration Trajectories and Cardiometabolic Risk Factors in Wave V of the National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent to Adult Health, United States, 1994-2018

# LIST OF FIGURES

<b>Figure 2-1.</b> Structural Equation Model of the Association between Race/ethnicity and Short Sleep Duration as Mediated by Neighborhood and Family Environmental Factors	. 30
<b>Figure 3-1.</b> Multi-Group Growth Mixture Model Short Sleep Duration Trajectories by Race/Ethnicity among Females, United States, 1994-2018	. 55
Figure 3-2. Multi-Group Growth Mixture Model Short Sleep Duration Trajectories by Race/Ethnicity among Males, United States, 1994-2018	. 56
<b>Supplemental Figure 3-1.</b> Growth Mixture Model Short Sleep Duration Trajectories by Race/Ethnicity and Sex including Long Sleepers, United States, 1994-2018	. 58

### **Chapter 1: Introduction**

### **Background and Literature Review**

#### Cardiometabolic Disease Burden and Health Risk Behaviors

Cardiometabolic diseases (e.g., cardiovascular conditions and metabolic disorders) are the leading cause of morbidity and mortality among U.S. adults and poses an enormous economic burden (1). In 2017, an estimated 868,662 deaths were due to cardiovascular disease (CVD) alone costing the U.S. an estimated \$363.4 billion (2). Cardiometabolic risk factors (e.g., interrelated factors such as elevated fasting glucose, dyslipidemia, obesity, and hypertension that increases the risk for cardiometabolic diseases) are highly prevalent among U.S. adults. For instance, among U.S. adults, 39.6% are obese, 46.0% have hypertension, and 38.3% have elevated total cholesterol (2). Racial/ethnic and sex disparities in cardiometabolic health have been well established for the adult population (1). For example, diabetes is most prevalent among non-Hispanic Black and Hispanic males while the prevalence of obesity is the highest among non-Hispanic Black and Hispanic females (1). A large body of literature has explored physical activity, diet, and tobacco smoking as behavioral risk factors for cardiometabolic diseases. In particular, studies have found that physical inactivity and unhealthy diets are associated with an increased risk for obesity (3, 4), diabetes (5, 6), and hypertension (7, 8). In addition, studies indicate a higher risk of dyslipidemia (9-11) and inflammation (12-14) among those with less physical activity, unhealthy diets, and smoking. Thus, the primary focus of health behavior interventions to reduce cardiometabolic diseases and disparities have been on decreasing tobacco use, increasing physical activity, and improving diet (15, 16). An increasingly recognized health behavior that is a risk factor in the development of cardiometabolic risk factors is sleep duration (17, 18).

### Mechanisms Linking Sleep Duration to Cardiometabolic Health

Systematic reviews and meta-analyses have shown that shorter sleep duration is associated with cardiometabolic risk factors such as obesity (19-21), diabetes (22, 23), elevated blood pressure (24, 25), high cholesterol (26), and inflammation (27, 28) among adults and adolescents. There are several proposed biological mechanisms in which sleep duration can influence cardiometabolic risk through metabolic dysregulation (29). Both experimental (30-32) and observation studies (33, 34) have found that shorter sleep duration is associated with decreases in leptin and increases in ghrelin release. These alterations can potentially increase hunger and cravings for high fat, sweet, starchy and salty foods subsequently increasing the risk for obesity, type-2 diabetes, hypertension, and dyslipidemia. Studies also indicate that shorter sleep duration can reduce glucose tolerance and insulin sensitivity, which are directly related with increased risk for type-2 diabetes along with lower HDL cholesterol and higher triglyceride levels (35-37). Based on experimental and observational studies, shorter sleep duration can elevate sympathetic and reduce para-sympathetic nervous system activities resulting in higher blood pressure (38). Furthermore, shorter sleep duration may cause inflammation through increases in the production of inflammatory markers such as C-reactive protein and interleukin-6 which are associated with metabolic syndrome (39). Short sleep duration may also impact cardiometabolic risk through influencing health behaviors such as physical activity and smoking. There is evidence to suggest that there may be a bidirectional relationship of sleep duration with physical inactivity and tobacco use in which shorter sleep duration can result in greater physical inactivity and smoking that can lead to shorter sleep duration. This cycle of short sleep duration, physical inactivity, and more smoking may be detrimental for cardiometabolic health.

## Racial/ethnic and Sex/Gender Disparities in Sleep Duration among Adolescents and Adults

Short sleep duration is highly pervasive in the U.S. with estimates as high as 70% of adolescents (40) and 35% of adults (41) reporting short sleep duration. Significant racial

disparities have been well documented among both adolescents (42) and adults (43) with African Americans, Asians, and Hispanics generally having shorter sleep duration than non-Hispanic Whites. These disparities may be attributed to the historical and contemporary racially discriminatory practices and policies that place racial/ethnic minorities in greater social disadvantage and exclude them from accessing health-promoting resources (44). For example, racial/ethnic minorities are more likely to experience factors that negatively affect sleep such as psychosocial stressors, lower socioeconomic status, shift work, acculturation, and living in adverse physical (e.g. lower walkability, air and noise pollution) and social neighborhood environments (e.g. higher social fragmentation, lower social cohesion and safety) (45-52).

Sex (i.e., biological characteristics such as chromosomes, hormone levels, and reproductive/sexual anatomy), and gender (i.e., a social construct to describe norms, roles, and behaviors that society associates with being male and female) differences in sleep duration have been observed in both adolescents and adults (53). Although sex and gender are distinct terms, research examining sex and gender differences in sleep duration have used these terms interchangeably as they often interact to influence health. Studies among adolescents have mixed findings with some studies suggesting shorter sleep duration among females (40, 54, 55), while others show longer sleep duration (56-58) than males. Biological pathways explaining shorter sleep duration among adolescent females could be attributed to earlier pubertal onset than males (59, 60). Although the need for sleep increases during puberty due to growth spurts, changes in biological sleep regulation (e.g. more wakefulness in the evenings and later bedtimes) combined with social factors (e.g. early school start times and increased academic pressure) may result in shorter sleep duration (61). Among females, this developmental period is also the beginning of the menstrual cycle where fluctuations of hormones (e.g. estrogen and progesterone) may result in shorter sleep duration. Due to gendered expectations, adolescent females are also more likely to have household responsibilities such as chores and caretaking (62) that may decrease the amount of time for sleep. For adolescent males, shorter sleep

duration may be influenced by poorer sleep hygiene practices (e.g. greater caffeine intake and more screen time) than adolescent females (63, 64).

Among adults, the majority of studies indicate that women have longer sleep (55, 65-68) duration while a few studies suggest shorter sleep than men (69, 70). Shorter sleep duration among adult females may also be attributed to the hormonal changes (e.g. estrogens and progesterone) that occur during pregnancy and menopause (71). In addition, gendered expectations pressure women into performing more labor including childcare and housework likely interfere with time for sleep (68). Although women tend to experience greater psychosocial stressors (e.g. gender-based discrimination, occupational stress, and financial strain) (46, 72-75) that are detrimental to sleep, they may be more likely to seek and receive social support than males (76-78) which could help buffer the negative impact of these stressors on sleep (79, 80). Research, although sparse, suggest that shorter sleep duration among males may be due to the poorer sleep hygiene and less positive attitude towards healthy sleep behaviors when compared to females (81).

The majority of studies have examined sleep disparities in relation to one social identity (e.g. race or gender), with limited studies investigating the simultaneous impact of multiple social identities (e.g. race/ethnicity and gender) on sleep. Intersectionality is a theoretical framework that explores how the convergence of multiple social identities (e.g. race, gender, social class, sexual orientation, and disability) grants individuals advantages/disadvantages that will impact their health and produce health inequities (82, 83). There is growing recognition for the need of an intersectional approach in addressing health disparities and in particular sleep disparities (43). Applying an intersectionality framework can advance sleep disparities research by more accurately documenting and identifying populations most at risk for poor sleep. This is particularly important for informing effective interventions to reduce disparities. The few studies that have examined sleep disparities through an intersectionality lens have found that sleep duration differs jointly by race/ethnicity and gender in adolescent and adult populations (57, 84-

87). For example, a study among high school students in Pennsylvania and another study among adults from the Multiethnic Study of Atherosclerosis (MESA) found that Black men and women reported the shortest sleep duration, while White women reported the longest sleep (57, 84, 85). However, these studies have primarily examined race and gender differences in sleep duration in one developmental period.

## Sleep Duration across the Life Course

Research suggests that sleep duration declines as adolescents transition into adulthood that may be attributed to a combination of both biological and socio-contextual changes. Potential biological mechanisms include a circadian phase delay during pubertal development that favors an evening chronotype and the development of a sleep-wake homeostatic system that allows for more wakefulness during the daytime. Both processes could lead to progressively later bedtime from early adolescence into young adulthood (88). In conjunction with a later bedtime, adolescents encounter various socio-contextual pressures such as early school start times during adolescence, academic and work demands, growing responsibilities as they become increasingly independent from their parents, and start a family, that present additional barriers to sleep (89, 90).

Given that sleep duration can vary across the life course and sleep duration from earlier developmental periods can influence health later in life, assessing sleep duration across multiple developmental periods is critical. For example, studies have found that short sleep duration during adolescence is associated with obesity (91) and high cholesterol (92) in young adulthood. Instead of focusing on the impact of sleep at one point in time, examining the influence of sleep duration across multiple developmental periods may be more informative in predicting health outcomes. For instance, studies conducted in U.S. nationally representative samples found that consistent short sleep duration (<6 hours) from adolescence to young

adulthood was associated with a greater likelihood for obesity (93) and asthma (94) in young adulthood.

A valuable approach to exploring sleep duration across developmental periods is through characterizing sleep duration trajectories. Sleep duration trajectories can guide researchers in determining the critical periods of inadequate sleep duration, which may be useful for informing sleep interventions. However, research describing sleep duration trajectories across the life course remain limited. The few studies that have investigated sleep duration trajectories from adolescence to adulthood have found several distinct trajectories (94-96). A study conducted with a nationally representative U.S. cohort identified four trajectories types from adolescence to young adulthood (12-32 years old): increasing, decreasing, and consistently adequate (>7 hours/night), and consistently short sleep duration (< 7 hours/night). Another study of a Brazilian birth cohort found three sleep duration trajectory types from adolescence to young adulthood (11-22 years old) with variations by sex (97). In this study, both males and females had a trajectory of constant reduction in sleep duration from adolescence to young adulthood and another trajectory of decreasing sleep from age 11 to 18 that remained constant from age 18 to 22. However, for the third trajectory type, both males and females had an increase in sleep duration from age 11 to 18, but for males, the sleep remained constant from 18 to 22 years while it decreased for females during that age range. Additionally, a study that assessed self-reported sleep duration among Norwegian students at ages 13, 15, 23, and 30 years estimated various trajectory types with the most common trajectory being those with short sleep duration in early adolescence (defined as  $\leq 8.5$  hours at age 13 years,  $\leq 8$  hours at age 15 years, and ≤7 hours at age 23 and 30 years) that stabilizes into normal sleep in mid adolescence to adulthood (defined as >8.5 hours at age 13 years, >8 hours at age 15 years, and >7 hours at age 23 and 30 years) (96). These categories were found to be similar between males and females.

One of the limitations of previous research on sleep trajectories across the life course is that they did not apply an intersectionality framework to examine sleep duration trajectories from adolescence to adulthood by race and gender. It is plausible that sleep duration trajectories would vary by race and sex given the unique socio-contextual experiences that racial/ethnic minorities and women (e.g., racism and sexism) (46, 98, 99) encounter throughout life that can impact their sleep. Exploring race/ethnicity and sex/gender differences in sleep duration trajectories within and between each of these groups across the life course can help identify critical developmental periods where groups may be the most at risk for short sleep and susceptible to changes in sleep duration. This knowledge could be used to develop interventions targeting specific developmental periods to reduce sleep disparities. Furthermore, it is crucial to explore sleep duration trajectories from adolescence to adulthood in relation to adult cardiometabolic health. This will allow researchers to examine the cumulative impact of short sleep and provide greater insight on the developmental periods when sleep influences adult cardiometabolic health.

## Neighborhood and Household Environment as Contributors to Racial Disparities in Adolescents

Given that adolescent sleep may predict sleep in adulthood, reducing the persistent racial disparities (42) in sleep among adolescents could alleviate sleep disparities in adulthood. Understanding the mechanisms driving these disparities can help to inform interventions to reduce these disparities in sleep duration and consequently health outcomes among adolescents. However, studies exploring these mechanisms remain sparse.

The neighborhood environment may be one of the pathways explaining racial differences in sleep duration among adolescents. Research indicates that residing in neighborhoods of higher socioeconomic disadvantage is associated with shorter sleep duration among children and adolescents (100-103). Socioeconomically disadvantaged neighborhoods often have fewer health promoting resources (e.g. recreational facilities, sidewalks, and healthy

food stores), and greater noise and air pollution that are less conducive to sleep (104-106). In addition, neighborhood socioeconomic disadvantage is correlated with worse social environments such as greater neighborhood disorder, lower safety, and less social cohesion (107). Studies have found that lack of safety and low social cohesion were associated with shorter sleep duration among adolescents (108-111). Mechanisms linking less safety and social cohesion to shorter sleep duration may be that residing in these detrimental neighborhood social environments may result in hypervigilance and psychological distress that lead to hormonal responses that interfere with sleep (112, 113). Furthermore, neighborhood environments are patterned by race/ethnicity with minorities having less access to healthier neighborhoods, consequently being more likely to live in neighborhoods of lower SES and worse social environments (114). The few studies examining the neighborhood environment as contributors to racial disparities in adolescent sleep outcomes have found that neighborhood disadvantage explained Black-White differences in sleep apnea (115) and later bedtimes (116) while one study found that neighborhood safety during childhood explained Black-White differences in sleep duration, daytime sleepiness, and time in bed during adulthood (117). Studies exploring the neighborhood environment as drivers of racial disparities in sleep duration during adolescence remain sparse.

The household environment characterized by household SES and family structure may be other important pathways underlying racial disparities in sleep among adolescents. Adolescents living in households of lower SES may have shorter sleep duration (118). Those with lower SES are more likely to have shift work, need for multiple jobs, and live in more noisy and crowded spaces interfering with the ability to establish healthy sleep habits for their children such as consistent bedtimes. Additionally, research suggests that lower household SES adolescents have greater access to media in their bedrooms and sedentary behavior which all can inhibit getting adequate sleep (119, 120). Another household environmental factor that has been linked to shorter sleep duration among adolescents is living in a single parent household.

One element of living in a single parent household that may explain shorter sleep duration is that it may reflect household SES as those living in a single parent household may have lower income than a two-parent household. Consequently, single parents may need to work multiple jobs that present barriers to monitoring and enforcing routine behaviors of their children such as earlier and consistent bedtimes that are beneficial for sleep (121-123). Furthermore, living in a single parent household may reflect instability of the home environment that could inhibit sleep (124). For instance, previous literature have found greater parent-child conflict among single parent families and an association between parent-child conflict and sleep problems among adolescents (125-127). One explanation for this association is that optimal sleep is best facilitated in an environment perceived as safe and free of threat, thus repeated exposure to feelings of instability in the home environment may increase vigilance and interfere with sleep (128). The experiences of these household level factors have also been found to vary by race/ethnicity with prior studies suggesting racial/ethnic minorities being more likely to have lower household SES and live in single parent households in comparison to non-Hispanic White adolescents (129, 130). Few studies have investigated whether racial differences in the household environment may explain racial disparities in adolescent sleep duration.

To date, studies have not examined whether household (e.g., household SES and living in a single parent household) and neighborhood (e.g. neighborhood socioeconomic disadvantage, social cohesion, and perceived safety) environments are mediators in the pathway of the association between race/ethnicity and self-reported short sleep duration.

### **Study Aims**

<u>Overall goal:</u> To improve our understanding of sleep across the life course and help identify points of intervention to reduce racial/ethnic and sex disparities in sleep and improve cardiometabolic health during adulthood.

- <u>AIM 1</u>. Evaluate whether family (e.g. family SES and living in a single parent household) and neighborhood environments (neighborhood SES, perceived safety, and social cohesion) explain racial disparities in short sleep duration among U.S. adolescents.
  <u>Hypothesis</u>: Independently, adverse neighborhood and family environments will partially explain the association between race/ethnicity and short sleep duration.
- <u>AIM 2</u>. Describe race/ethnicity and sex/gender differences in sleep duration trajectories from adolescence to adulthood
- <u>AIM 3</u>. Estimate race/ethnicity and sex/gender differences in the association between sleep duration trajectories from adolescence to adulthood and adult cardiometabolic risk factors

<u>Hypotheses</u>: Persistent short sleep duration from adolescence to adulthood would be associated with a greater likelihood for cardiometabolic risk factors.

### **Study Population**

The data for this research came from the National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent to Adult Health (Add Health)(131), a nationally representative, school-based study of adolescent health behaviors and their outcomes during adulthood. Add Health uses a school-based study design where 80 high schools and 52 middle schools from the US were sampled stratified by region of country, urbanicity, school size, school type, and ethnicity. In 1994-1995, an in-school questionnaire on topics such as school extracurricular activities, friendships, and health status was administered to 90,118 students between grades 7-12. A subset of those that completed the in-school questionnaire and those that did not complete the questionnaire but were on the school roster were interviewed in their homes from 1994-1995 (Wave I; n=20,745; mean age=15.7 years). Four follow up interviews have been conducted using a subset of the original participants from the Wave I in-home interviews: Wave II in 1996 (n=14,738; mean age=16.2 years), Wave III from 2001-2002 (n=15,197; mean age=22.0 years), Wave IV in 2008

(n=15,701; mean age=28.5 years), and Wave V from 2016-2018 (n=12,300; mean age=37.0 years). For Wave V, a random subsample (n=5,381) of those from Wave I were selected and agreed to participate in collection of anthropometric and blood pressure measures. In addition, these participants provided venous blood samples that were assayed for glucose, hemoglobin A1c, lipid, and high sensitivity C-reactive protein concentrations. Aim 1 used data from Waves I and II, Aim 2 was from Waves I-IV, and Aim 3 came from Waves I-V.

## **Contributions to the Literature/Public Health Importance**

- Prior studies have examined these neighborhood and family contextual factors as covariates and adjusted for them in their analyses assessing racial differences in sleep duration among adolescents (42). Adjusting for these factors does not allow for disentangling of whether these factors are confounders or mediators. A formal mediation analysis using structural equation modeling was conducted to statistically test whether these factors are mediators and determine whether they explain for racial differences in sleep duration among adolescents (132). Identifying these potential mediators are important for informing policies and programs to better household and neighborhood conditions which could improve sleep.
- Common methods to examine growth trajectories over time involve a single trajectory developed based on averages in the population with the assumption that this trajectory is representative of the entire population (133). However, this may mask the different trajectories that exist for those that deviate from the average trajectory, which is important, as there may be long-term impacts of short sleep duration from adolescence to adulthood on adult cardiometabolic health. Growth mixture modeling, an emerging statistical technique, allowed us to identify various sleep duration trajectories within an intersectionality framework of race and sex.
- Most studies have examined the association between sleep duration and cardiometabolic health outcomes in individual developmental periods (i.e. among children, adolescents, or

adults only), but not across the life course (134). A few studies have shown that sleep duration in early life may influence cardiometabolic health during adulthood, but these studies have not examined whether changes or stability in sleep duration across the life course have health implications. Understanding when changes in the sleep duration across the life course influences cardiometabolic risk will be useful in developing more targeted interventions at each of these developmental periods.

The majority of prior studies have examined racial disparities in sleep duration and cardiometabolic health among African American and Whites and have limited geographic representation often including participants from a specific region in the United States (135). Aim 1 included a nationally representative sample with African American, American Indian, Asian, Latinx, and non-Hispanic White adolescents. Aims 2 and 3 included African American, Latinx, and non-Hispanic White participants. The racial/ethnic and geographic diversity will allow these study results to be more generalizable.

# Chapter 2: Neighborhood and Household Environment as Contributors to Racial Disparities in Sleep Duration among U.S. Adolescents

## Abstract

Racial disparities in adolescent sleep duration is well established. Investigating mechanisms underlying these disparities is important for informing interventions to reduce disparities. Racial/ethnic minority adolescents have reduced access to sleep promoting neighborhood and household environments that may contribute to the documented sleep disparities. This study examined whether neighborhood and household environments explained racial disparities in adolescent sleep duration. Participants came from Waves I and II of Add Health (n=13,019). Self-reported short sleep duration was defined as less than the recommended amount for age (<9 hours for 6-12 years, <8 hours for 13-18 years, and <7 hours for 18-64 years). Neighborhood factors included neighborhood socioeconomic disadvantage, perceived safety and social cohesion. Household factors included living in a single parent household and household socioeconomic status (HSES). Structural equation modeling was used to assess mediation of the neighborhood and household environment in the association between race/ethnicity and short sleep duration. Only HSES mediated racial disparities, explaining African American-Non Hispanic White (NHW) (11.6%), American Indian-NHW (9.9%), and Latinx-NHW (42.4%) differences. Unexpectedly, higher HSES was positively associated with short sleep duration. Future studies must examine mechanisms linking household SES to sleep and identify buffers for racial/ethnic minority adolescents against the detrimental impacts that living in a higher household SES may have on sleep.

## Introduction

A large body of literature has linked short sleep duration (ranging from < 6 hours to < 8 hours) to obesity, type-2 diabetes, poorer mental health, and engagement in injury related behaviors such as tobacco use and drunk driving among adolescents (21, 23, 136, 137). Short sleep duration is highly prevalent among U.S. adolescents with as high as 60% of middle school and 70% of high school students reporting sleeping less than the recommended amount by age based on guidelines set by the American Academy of Sleep Medicine (<9 hours for age 6-12 years and <8 hours for age 13-18 years) (40). Furthermore, racial disparities in short sleep duration among adolescents has been well documented with racial/ethnic minority adolescents generally reporting shorter sleep duration than non-Hispanic Whites (42, 56, 138). The reasons for this disparity are unclear. There are limited studies that explore factors contributing to racial disparities in sleep duration among adolescents can help to inform interventions to reduce these disparities in sleep duration and consequently health outcomes among adolescents.

The neighborhood context may play an important role in explaining racial differences in sleep duration among adolescents. Previous studies suggests that living in neighborhoods of higher socioeconomic disadvantage is associated with shorter sleep duration among children and adolescents (100-103). Socioeconomically disadvantaged neighborhoods often have fewer health promoting resources (e.g. recreational facilities, sidewalks, and healthy food stores) which may encourage unhealthy behaviors (e.g., sedentary behaviors and unhealthy diets), and in turn, result in shorter sleep duration (45). In addition, disadvantaged neighborhoods have greater noise (e.g., traffic, police sirens, and construction work) and air pollution (e.g., PM<sub>2.5</sub> and nitrogen oxides) that may contribute to less sleep through arousals, inflammatory pathways, and stress responses (104-106). Moreover, neighborhood socioeconomic disadvantage is correlated with poorer social environments such as greater neighborhood disorder, less safety and lower social cohesion (107). Prior studies among adolescents have found that lack of safety and low

social cohesion were associated with shorter sleep duration (108-111). Living in these stressful neighborhood social conditions may result in hypervigilance and psychological distress that lead to physiologic hormones that interfere with sleep (112, 113). Furthermore, these neighborhood environments are patterned by race/ethnicity with racial/ethnic minorities being more likely to live in neighborhoods of lower SES and poorer social environments (114). However, studies examining whether racial differences in neighborhood environments exacerbate or mitigate racial disparities in sleep duration among adolescents are lacking.

In addition to the neighborhood SES, household-level factors such as household SES may be an important contributor to racial disparities in sleep among adolescents. Living in households of lower SES is associated with shorter sleep duration among adolescents (118). Those with lower SES are more likely to be shift workers, work multiple jobs, and living in more noisy and crowded spaces interfering with the ability to establish healthy sleep habits for their children such as consistent bedtimes. Additionally, adolescents of lower SES have less access to health care to prevent and/or treat medical conditions (e.g., asthma and obesity) that can negatively influence sleep. Household SES varies by race/ethnicity with racial/ethnic minority adolescents being more likely to have lower household SES than their non-Hispanic White peers (130). Thus, household SES may be a contributor to the documented adolescent sleep disparities. However, research examining whether household SES explains racial disparities in adolescent sleep duration remain sparse.

Another household factor that may contribute to racial disparities in adolescent sleep is living in a single parent household. There is evidence to suggest that living in a single parent household is associated with shorter sleep duration (124, 139). One component of living in a single parent household that may explain shorter sleep duration is that it could reflect household SES as those living in a single parent household may have lower income than a two-parent household. As a result, single parents may need to work multiple jobs, which could be a barrier to implementing routine behaviors of their children, such as earlier and consistent bedtimes, that

are beneficial for sleep (121-123). Furthermore, living in a single parent household may reflect instability of the home environment that could inhibit sleep (124). For instance, previous literature have found greater parent-child conflict among single parent families and an association between parent-child conflict and sleep problems among adolescents (125-127). One explanation for this association is that optimal sleep is best facilitated in an environment perceived as safe and free of threat, thus repeated exposure to feelings of instability in the home environment may increase vigilance and interfere with sleep (128). Research suggests that racial/ethnic minority adolescents may be more likely to live in single parent households in comparison to non-Hispanic White adolescents (129). Studies have not investigated whether living in a single parent household contributes to racial differences in adolescent sleep duration.

The primary purpose of this study is to simultaneously examine whether neighborhood (e.g. neighborhood socioeconomic disadvantage, safety, and social cohesion) and household contexts (e.g. household SES and single parent household) explain racial disparities in sleep duration among U.S. adolescents. Using structural equation modeling, the hypotheses being tested are: 1) racial/ethnic minorities are more likely to have shorter sleep duration than Whites, 2) living in adverse neighborhood and household environments will be positively associated with short sleep duration, and 3) racial/ethnic minorities will be more likely to live in these stressful neighborhood and household environments which will lead to greater reports of short sleep duration compared to Whites.

### Methods

### Study Population

The data for this study are from Waves I and II of the National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent to Adult Health (Add Health). Add Health is an ongoing longitudinal, nationally representative, school-based study of adolescent health behaviors and their outcomes during adulthood. Details about the study design and procedures have been published elsewhere

(140). In brief, a school-based study design was used in which 80 high schools and 52 middle schools from the US were sampled and stratified by region of country, urbanicity, school size, school type, and ethnicity. In 1994-1995, an in-school questionnaire on topics such as school extracurricular activities, friendships, and health status were administered to 90,118 students between grades 7-12 with parental and student consent. A subset of those that completed the in-school questionnaire and those that did not complete the questionnaire but were on the school roster (n=20,745) were interviewed in their homes from 1994-1995 which formed Wave I (mean age: 16 years) of the study. Wave II (1996; mean age: 16 years) was conducted a year later and consists of a subset of Wave I participants (n=14,738). Sampling weights were constructed by the Add Health study team to be applied in analyses allowing for nationally representative estimates. Weights were unable to be constructed for participants selected out of the sampling frame for Add Health sub studies (141). This study included only those who participated in both Waves of data collection and had complete sample weights (n=13,568). Those who did not identify as African American, American Indian, Asian, Hispanic, or White (n=124) and were long sleepers defined as sleep duration greater than the American Academy of Sleep Medicine's (AASM) recommended amount of sleep by age (>12 hours for 6-12 years old, >0 hours for 13-18 year olds, and >9 hours for 18-64 years old) (n=405) were excluded due to their small sample sizes providing a final analytic sample of 13,019. Add Health was approved by the institutional review board of the University of North Carolina, Chapel Hill and written consent forms were obtained from adolescents and their parents.

## Neighborhood Environment

Data on neighborhood contextual factors were obtained from Wave I. Participant home addresses at Wave I were geocoded using the following sources in order of priority: 1) street-segment matches from commercial geographic information system (GIS) databases; 2) global positioning system (GPS) units, when street segments were not available; 3) a ZIP+4/ZIP+2 or

a 5 digit zip centroid match when neither GIS or GPS data were available; and 4) respondent's geocoded school location (142). The home addresses were then linked to block, group, tract, and county information from the 1990 US Census and the National Archive of Criminal Justice Data for crime information (143). Those with missing geocoded data, missing source data, and unstable estimates due to small sample sizes were coded as missing (n=306). In addition, inhome interviews with adolescent participants were conducted in Wave I to collect information on neighborhood characteristics such as perceived safety and social cohesion and are further described below. Neighborhood socioeconomic disadvantage was assessed with a summary score constructed by standardizing and summing the following five census tract measures that have been used in prior Add Health research: proportions of female-headed households, individuals living below the poverty threshold, individuals receiving public assistance, adults with less than a high school education, and adults who were unemployed (144, 145). A higher summary score represented greater disadvantage and was modeled continuously. Perceived neighborhood safety was assessed based on adolescent report of yes or no to the question "Do you usually feel safe in your neighborhood?" and modeled as a binary variable. Neighborhood social cohesion was evaluated using a summary score from a prior Add Health studies based on adolescent report of yes or no to the following three items: 1)" You know most of the people in your neighborhood in the past month"; 2) "You have stopped on the street to talk with someone who lives in your neighborhood"; and 3) "People in this neighborhood look out for each other" (146, 147). Responses (yes=1, no=0) were summed to generate a score ranging from 0 to 3. The summary score was modeled as a continuous variable with a higher score representing greater social cohesion.

## Household Environment

Information on family contextual measures were obtained from Wave I. During Wave I, an in-home interview was conducted with the adolescent and their parent to ascertain

information on household socio-demographics. For this study, family contextual measures included living in a single parent household and household SES. Living in a single parent household was determined by adolescent report of family structure and was modeled as a dichotomous variable (148). Household SES was assessed by a summary measure including parental education, parental occupation, and household income. The highest parental education level was used and categorized in three groups: 1) less than high school, or high school graduate or vocational school, 2) some college, or 3) college graduate or graduate education. Similarly, the highest parental occupational level was selected and classified as: 1) service industry, transportation, construction or military; 2) technical, office worker, sales; or 3) professional or manager. Household income was categorized into tertiles as low, medium, and high. A summary score was created using a weighted average of the sum of the parental education, parental occupation, and household income resulting in a score ranging from 0 to 2 with a higher score representing higher household SES.

## Sleep Duration

Sleep duration data was obtained from Wave II and ascertained from adolescent participants by asking "How many hours of sleep do you usually get?" in which they were only allowed to respond in whole hours per day. Responses were categorized based on the recommended amount of sleep for age by the American Academy of Sleep Medicine (AASM): 9-12 hours for 6-12 years old, 8-10 hours for 13-18 year olds, and 7-9 hours for 18-64 years old (149, 150). Sleep was dichotomized as either short sleep duration (less than the amount recommended by age) or recommended sleep duration (within the recommended range by age). Very short sleep duration, defined as <6 hours of sleep was also modeled in sensitivity analysis.

### Race/ethnicity

Participants were asked to provide a yes or no response to the question "Are you of Hispanic or Latino origin?" Following that question, participants were asked "What is your race?" with White, Black or African American, American Indian or Native American, Asian or Pacific Islander, or Other as possible choices and the ability to indicate more than one race. Based on recommendations by Add Health researchers (151), those that responded with yes to being of Hispanic or Latino origin were designated as Hispanic for their race/ethnicity and excluded from any race category that was selected. If participants selected "black or African American" and any other race, they were designated as African American for their race/ethnicity, and eliminated from the other selected race categories. The process was repeated for the remaining race categories in the following order: Asian, American Indian, and White. The race/ethnicity variable consisted of non-Hispanic African American, non-Hispanic American Indian, non-Hispanic Asian, Hispanic, and non-Hispanic White. Henceforth, the race/ethnicity groups will be referred to as African American, American Indian, Asian, Latinx, and White.

### Statistical Analysis

Study sample characteristics were examined by race/ethnicity using PROC SURVEY procedures in SAS 9.4 to account for complex sampling weights (152). Structural equation modeling (SEM) was used to examine neighborhood and family contextual factors as mediators in the association between race/ethnicity and short sleep duration adjusting for self-reported sex (male vs. female) and age. An attempt was made to model the neighborhood and household environment as latent constructs mediating the association between race/ethnicity and short sleep, but did not meet the guidelines for identifiability (153). Therefore, each individual neighborhood and household measure was modeled as a mediator in the SEM. Non-Hispanic White adolescents were the reference group in all pathways involving comparisons between racial/ethnic groups. The SEMs accounted for complex sampling weights and were conducted with MPlus v8.4 using the weighted least squares means and variance estimator (WLSMV) to

obtain the standardized probit coefficients and standard errors (SE) for the total effect (TE), direct effect (DE), and indirect effect (IDE) of each pathway (154). Missing data was addressed using the default missing data procedure implemented for wslmv in MPlus (154). Covariance of error terms between each neighborhood measure and separately each family variable were included to account for potential collinearity. Modification indices were examined and covariance of error terms between the neighborhood and family characteristics with indices greater than 10 were included to improve model fit. Model fit was assessed with root mean square error of approximation (RMSEA), comparative fit index (CFI) and standardized root mean square residual (SRMR). Acceptable model fit is indicated by RMSEA<0.06, CFI>0.95, and SRMR<0.08 (155). Because the prevalence of sleeping less than 6 hours has been found to differ by race and has been associated with poorer health outcomes among adolescents such as obesity and binge drinking (91, 109, 156), sensitivity analysis was conducted in which very short sleep duration (<6 hours of sleep) was modeled as the outcome.

### Results

### **Descriptive Analyses**

Study sample characteristics by race/ethnicity are shown in Table 2-1. Overall, the mean age was 15.0 years (SE=0.11), 49.8% were female, 41.6% reported short sleep duration, and 15.6%, 2.1%, 4.0%, 12.3%, and 66.1% were African American, American Indian, Asian, Latinx, and White respectively. All characteristics significantly differed by race/ethnicity (p<.001) except sex and age. African American, American Indian and Latinx adolescents were more likely to live in neighborhoods with greater socioeconomic disadvantage compared to Asians and Whites. A smaller percentage of African American and Latinx adolescents reported living in a safe neighborhood compared to their American Indian, Asian, and White peers. On average, African Americans and White adolescents reported greater neighborhood social cohesion compared to all other racial/ethnic groups. In terms of household factors, a higher proportion of African

American, American Indian, and Latinx adolescents reported lower household SES than Asians and Whites. A higher proportion of African American and Hispanic adolescents reported living in a single parent household compared with their peers of other racial/ethnic groups. Furthermore, African American adolescents had the highest prevalence of short sleep duration (47.1%), followed by Asian (46.5%), American Indian (45.1%), Latinx (40.7%), and White (40.1%) adolescents. A similar trend was found for very short sleep duration in which the highest proportion were among African American (7.9%), followed by Asian (7.2%), American Indian (5.9%), Latinx (4.8%), and White (4.6%) adolescents.

## Structural Equation Models

The simplified version of the results for each pathway without the SE and exact p-values are shown in Figure 1-1. The estimates, SE, and p-values for the total, direct, and indirect effects of the SEM comparing short sleep duration for African American, Asian, American Indian, and Latinx to White adolescents are shown in Table 1-2. Model fit statistics suggested acceptable model fit (RMSEA= .014, CFI= .996, and SRMR=.025).

## Racial/Ethnic Differences in Short Sleep Duration

African American (TE:  $\beta$ =.055, SE=.014, p<.001) and Asian (TE:  $\beta$ =.026, SE=.013, p=.047) adolescents were more likely to have short sleep duration than White adolescents. There were no statistically significant Latinx-White and American Indian-White differences.

### Racial/Ethnic Differences in Neighborhood and Family Contexts

African American adolescents were more likely to live in neighborhoods with greater socioeconomic disadvantage (DE:  $\beta$ =.455, SE=.028, p<.001), less safety (DE:  $\beta$ =-.186, SE=.023, p<.001), and more social cohesion (DE:  $\beta$ =.031, SE=.015, p=.042) than White adolescents. American Indian adolescents were more likely to live in greater neighborhood socioeconomic disadvantage (DE:  $\beta$ =.066, SE=.021, p=.002) and less safety (DE:  $\beta$ =-.039,

SE=.020, p=.049) compared with White adolescents, but there were no statistically significant differences in social cohesion. Asians were more likely to live in neighborhoods with less social cohesion than Whites (DE:  $\beta$ =-.084, SE=.012, p<.001), but there were no other statistically significant neighborhood differences. Compared to White adolescents, Latinx individuals reported living in neighborhoods of greater socioeconomic disadvantage (DE:  $\beta$ =.193, SE=.035, p<.001), lower safety (DE:  $\beta$ =-.167, SE=.021, p<.001), and less social cohesion (DE:  $\beta$ =-.067, SE=.012, p<.001).

African American adolescents were more likely to live in lower household SES (DE:  $\beta$ =-.180, SE=.028, p<.001) and to live in a single parent household (DE:  $\beta$ =.287, SE=.020, p<.001) than their White peers. American Indian adolescents were more likely to have lower household SES compared to White adolescents (DE:  $\beta$ =-.054, SE=.014, p<.001), but no significant differences of living in a single parent household between these two groups. There were no significant differences in household characteristics between Asian and White adolescents. Latinx adolescents lived in lower household SES (DE:  $\beta$ =-.222, SE=.021, p<.001) and were more likely to live in a single parent household (DE:  $\beta$ =.071, SE=.021, p=.001) than White adolescents.

### Neighborhood and Household Characteristics on Short Sleep Duration

Higher household SES (DE:  $\beta$ =.069, SE=.020, p=.001) was significantly associated with greater likelihood of short sleep. There was no statistically significant association between living in a single parent household and short sleep duration or between any of the neighborhood characteristics and short sleep duration.

## Mediation of Neighborhood and Family Environment

There were no significant mediation by the neighborhood environment in the association between race/ethnicity and short sleep duration (IDE: p's>.05). Household SES mediated 11.6%

of African American-White (IDE:  $\beta$ =-.011, SE=.004, p=.007), 9.9% of American Indian-White (IDE:  $\beta$ =-.003, SE=.001, p=.017), and 42.4% of Latinx-White short sleep duration differences (IDE:  $\beta$ =-.014, SE=.005, p=.007). That is, the difference in short sleep duration between each racial/ethnic group compared to Whites is increased by having higher household SES. However, there were no indirect effects for living in a single parent household. Furthermore, differences in short sleep duration between Asians and Whites were not significantly mediated by any of the family characteristics.

## Sensitivity Analyses

In sensitivity analyses (Supplemental Table 2-1), only African American adolescents (TE:  $\beta$ =.088, SE=.015, p<.001) were more likely to have very short sleep duration compared to their White peers. Results for the associations between race/ethnicity with neighborhood and household characteristics were similar to that of the primary analyses. In addition, only higher household SES was associated with a lower likelihood for very short sleep duration (DE:  $\beta$ =.071, SE=.035, p=.042). Also, household SES significantly mediated 30.1% of the Latinx-White differences (IDE:  $\beta$ =.016, SE=.008, p=.049) in very short sleep duration. No other significant indirect effects were found.

## Discussion

To our knowledge, this is one of first studies to examine contributors to racial disparities in sleep duration among adolescents. This study comprised of racial groups beyond African American, Latinx, and White adolescents and included Asian and American Indian adolescents. In this study, African American, American Indian, and Asian adolescents were more likely to have short sleep duration than White their peers. Racial/ethnic minorities were more likely to live in worse neighborhood environments than White adolescents. Contrary to our hypotheses, these neighborhood characteristics were not related to short sleep duration and did not explain

the racial differences in sleep duration between racial/ethnic minority groups and White adolescents. Furthermore, results from this study show that African American, Latinx, and American Indian adolescents were more likely to live in adverse household environments than Asians and Whites. Living in a single parent household was not related to sleep duration and unexpectedly living in lower SES households was related to a lower likelihood of short sleep duration. Results further suggest that household SES partially contributed to African American-White, American Indian-White, and Latinx-White differences. That is, living in a lower household SES for these racial/ethnic minority groups decreased differences in sleep duration compared to White adolescents

Consistent with prior studies, our study found a higher proportion of short sleep duration among African American, American Indian, and Asian compared to White adolescents (40, 42). However, our results did not indicate sleep duration differences between Latinx and White adolescents. Findings from prior studies comparing sleep duration between Latinx and White adolescents have been mixed with Latinx reporting shorter or longer sleep duration than Whites (54, 157-161). These contradictory results could be due to differences in the study population. Latinx ethnicity in some studies, including the current study, were comprised of various Hispanic subgroups (e.g., Puerto Ricans, Mexican Americans, and Cuban Americans) whereas other studies assessed individual ethnic groups (e.g. Mexican Americans) (56, 157, 159, 162). The diverse sociocultural context of Hispanic subgroups (e.g., migration histories and levels of acculturation) may differentially influence their sleep and may explain the various Latinx-White disparity findings (163-165). Furthermore, the differences in the definition of short sleep duration may explain the contrasting results across studies. For instance, a study from the Youth Risk Behavioral Surveillance Survey that uses a one-item question to assess sleep found no significant Hispanic-White differences in short sleep duration defined similar to this study using the AASM guidelines. Whereas another study using data from a nationally representative sample of 8<sup>th</sup>, 10<sup>th</sup> and 12<sup>th</sup> graders with a one-item guestion assessment of sleep found that

Hispanics were more likely than White adolescents to have inadequate sleep which was defined as less than 7 hours. Additionally, there are variations in the measurement of sleep across studies in which some studies used objective measures of sleep duration (e.g. actigraphy and polysomnography), while others use self-reported subjective measures such as parent report or time diaries. Studies conducted with actigraphy and polysomnography generally have found no significant Hispanic-White differences in sleep duration among adolescents (56, 158, 166, 167). Inconsistent results were more common among studies with self-reported sleep measures. For instance, a study of children in Tucson, Arizona (158) using parent report found that Hispanic adolescents reported shorter sleep duration; while a study from the Child Development Supplement of the Panel Study of Income Dynamics using a time diary survey found greater sleep duration among Hispanic compared to White adolescents (161).

Similar to our findings, some studies among adolescents found null associations between neighborhood factors and sleep duration (108, 168). However, other studies among adolescents have found associations between neighborhood socioeconomic deprivation, lack of perceived safety and social fragmentation with shorter sleep duration (101-103, 108-111). The discrepancies between study results could be due to the differences in measurement of the neighborhood characteristics such as the use of different census measures for assessment of neighborhood socioeconomic disadvantage and varying scales to measure safety and social cohesion. Furthermore, the differences in results across studies could be the measurement of sleep duration in which some studies assessed sleep duration with actigraphy and/or selfreported sleep duration based on the sleep and wake time whereas our study used a one-item question with responses in whole hours.

Contrary to our hypothesis, living in a single parent household was not significantly associated with short sleep duration. A prior study among Black and White high school students by Troxel et al., found that living in a single parent household was associated with shorter actigraphy-assessed weekend sleep duration (124). In the Add Health study, sleep duration was

self-reported and not reported separately for weekday and weekend, which precluded us from examining whether the results may have differed based on weekday and weekend sleep and comparing the results between studies.

A few studies conducted outside of the U.S. (e.g., China, India, and Turkey) (169-174) have found shorter sleep duration among higher household SES adolescents citing heavier homework demands, academic pressures, and greater access to participation in extracurricular activities (e.g., sports and private tutoring) as some of the factors explaining shorter sleep duration (175-177). This may be the case for this study since Add Health is a school-based sample where academic pressures and participation in extracurricular activities may be more salient factors for adolescents in school compared to those not enrolled. Furthermore, these results are in line with prior literature indicating that racial/ethnic minority adolescents benefit less from being of higher household SES when compared to White adolescents (178-180). Prior studies suggest that racial/ethnic minority adolescents of higher SES may be more likely to live in areas and attend schools that have predominantly White students where they experience heightened discrimination (181-184). These experiences of discrimination may result in shorter sleep duration among (99, 185, 186).

Other studies conducted among U.S. adolescents contradict our findings in which lower household SES was associated with shorter sleep duration (58, 187, 188). The differences in results could be due to the use of actigraphy assessed sleep in these studies (58, 187, 188) whereas our study was limited to self-reported sleep in whole hours. In addition, there were variations in the measurement of SES in which some of these studies included indicators of SES individually (58, 187) instead of a composite measure. Furthermore, the discrepancy in findings may be explained by the differences in the age of the study samples in which previous studies included mainly younger adolescents in middle school (58, 187, 188) whereas our study consisted of mostly high school students. This may have led to differences in results because of
the greater academic and social pressures among high school compared to middle school students.

There are at least three strengths to this study. First, this is one of the first studies to formally test neighborhood and household characteristics as contributors to racial disparities in sleep duration comparing African American, Asian, Latinx, and American Indian to White adolescents. Second, the analyses simultaneously modeled both family and neighborhood characteristics, which allowed for the decomposition of specific direct and indirect effects and accounted for the potential correlation between these variables. Finally, the study cohort was large, racially/ethnically diverse, and nationally representative which allows for greater generalizability.

Despite the strengths of this study, the results should be considered in the context of the potential of three limitations. First, although the study attempted to include comprehensive measures of the neighborhood context, aggregate data may not represent individual level data and there may be other factors at the neighborhood level not captured in this study, such as measures of neighborhood disorder, crime data, and physical environment (e.g. noise, walkability, air pollution) that may contribute to racial disparities in sleep among adolescents (45). Similarly, there are other family level factors such as parental sleeping habits, traumatic life events (e.g. death in family), and caregiver stress that may explain racial differences in sleep (189-193). Second, studies comparing self-report to actigraphy assessed sleep duration among adolescents have found that they tend to overestimate their sleep and moderate correlations between measures, suggesting that there may be random misclassification of sleep duration that resulted in the null findings (57, 194). Although there were null results in the association between neighborhood contextual measures with short sleep duration and mediation by these variables, there were numerous significant pathways detected between race/ethnicity and family contextual factors with short sleep duration and mediation by these household SES. This indicates that the null findings in this study may not have been primarily due to the

measurement error of self-reported sleep duration. Finally, the adult literature has found that measurement error of self-reported sleep may vary by race/ethnicity (195, 196). Evidence of this bias in the adolescent literature is lacking, but may exist as studies have found racial differences in norms and attitudes about sleep that could influence the reporting of sleep duration (103, 197).

Given the large body of literature documenting significant racial disparities in adolescent sleep (42), understanding the contributors to these disparities is crucial for developing targeted interventions to mitigate these disparities. This study contributes to the early stages of trying to understand these pathways driving racial disparities in adolescent sleep duration and serve as a starting point for future research. Since household SES was found to be a potential pathway, it is paramount for future work to examine mechanisms linking varying levels of household SES to short sleep duration. In particular, future studies should be conducted within racial/ethnic groups to identify buffers that can reduce the harmful impacts that differing levels of household SES has on sleep. Knowledge on these mechanisms and buffers can be used to develop policies and intervention at the school level to improve sleep and reduce racial disparities in sleep.



**Figure 2-1.** Structural Equation Model of the Association between Race/ethnicity and Short Sleep Duration as Mediated by Neighborhood and Family Environmental Factors

**Note:** Paths emanating from race/ethnicity represent a comparison of each minority group (African American, Asian, American Indian and Latinx) to non-Hispanic White. All variables were modeled simultaneously and adjusted for sex and age. Total effects, indirect effects, and direct effects were estimated for all pathways. Standardized estimates are shown in each pathway. \*p<.05, \*\*p<.01, \*\*\*p<.001

**Table 2-1.** Sample Characteristics by Race/Ethnicity from Waves I and II of the National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent to Adult Health, United States, 1994-96

Characteristics	Total (N=13,019)	African American (N=2,790; 15.6%)	American Indian (N=240; 2.1%)	Asian (N=928; 4.0%)	Latinx (N=2,210; 12.3%)	White (N=6,851; 66.1%)
Age, mean (SE)	15.04 (0.11)	15.19 (0.19)	14.89 (0.17)	15.23 (0.27)	15.14 (0.21)	14.98 (0.13)
Sex, Female	49.8%	51.3%	43.1%	47.6%	48.8%	50.0%
Parental Socioeconomic Status, mean (SE)	0.88 (0.03)	0.66 (0.04)	0.74 (.05)	0.94 (0.06)	0.55 (0.03)	0.99 (0.03)
Single parent household	23.6%	47.0%	19.4%	15.5%	24.9%	18.4%
Neighborhood Socioeconomic Disadvantage, mean (SE)	21.65 (0.92)	32.5 (0.96)	23.7 (2.26)	19.07 (1.34)	26.19 (1.29)	18.34 (0.98)
Neighborhood Perceived as Safe	89.8%	82.7%	88.3%	88.7%	82.8%	92.8%
Neighborhood Social Cohesion, mean (SE)	2.28 (0.02)	2.38 (0.03)	2.20 (0.07)	1.90 (0.07)	2.11 (0.03)	2.31 (0.03)
Short sleep duration	41.6%	47.1%	45.1%	46.5%	40.7%	40.0%
Very Short sleep duration (<6 hours of sleep)	5.2%	7.9%	5.9%	7.2%	4.8%	4.5%

Abbreviations: SE=Standard Error

Note: Results accounted for Add Health sampling weights; p<0.001 for comparison of all characteristics except for age and sex (p's>0.05)

Pathways (n=13,019)	β	SE	p-value
Total Effects:			
Race/ethnicity $\rightarrow$ Short Sleep Duration			
African American	.055	.014	<.001
American Indian/Alaska Native	.021	.013	.095
Asian	.026	.013	.047
Latinx	<.001	.015	.994
Direct Effects:			
Race/ethnicity $\rightarrow$ Short Sleep Duration			
African American	.057	.016	<.001
American Indian/Alaska Native	.024	.013	.058
Asian	.024	.013	.074
Latinx	.007	.015	.648
Race/ethnicity →Neighborhood Socioeconomic Disadvantage			
African American	.455	.028	<.001
American Indian/Alaska Native	.066	.021	.002
Asian	.014	.026	.583
Latinx	.193	.035	<.001
Race/ethnicity → Neighborhood Safety			
African American	186	.023	<.001
American Indian/Alaska Native	039	.020	.049
Asian	050	.026	.051
Latinx	167	.021	<.001
Race/ethnicity →Neighborhood Social Cohesion			
African American	.031	.015	.042
American Indian/Alaska Native	019	.010	.062
Asian	084	.012	<.001
Latinx	067	.012	<.001
Race/ethnicity $\rightarrow$ Parental Socioeconomic Status			
African American	180	.028	<.001
American Indian/Alaska Native	054	.014	<.001
Asian	014	.016	.397
Latinx	222	.021	<.001
Race/ethnicity → Single Parent Household			
African American	.287	.020	<.001
American Indian/Alaska Native	.005	.020	.819
Asian	021	.016	.195
Latinx	.071	.021	.001
Neighborhood Socioeconomic Disadvantage $\rightarrow$ Short Sleep			
Duration	018	.020	.373
Neighborhood Safety $\rightarrow$ Short Sleep Duration	027	.029	.359

**Table 2-2.** Results from Structural Equation Model of the Association between Race/ethnicity and Short Sleep Duration as Mediated by Neighborhood and Household Environmental Factors

Neighborhood Social Cohesion $\rightarrow$ Short Sleep Duration	035	.018	.058
Parental Socioeconomic Status→ Short Sleep Duration	.061	.021	.004
Single Parent Household→ Short Sleep Duration	.046	.026	.078
Indirect Effects:			
Total:			
Race/ethnicity $\rightarrow$ Short Sleep Duration			
African American	002	.011	.863
American Indian/Alaska Native	003	.002	.181
Asian	.002	.002	.337
Latinx	007	.006	.227
Specific:			
Race/ethnicity $\rightarrow$ Neighborhood Socioeconomic Disadvantage $\rightarrow$ Short Sleep Duration			
African American	008	.009	.375
American Indian/Alaska Native	001	.001	.397
Asian	<.001	<.001	.610
Latinx	003	.004	.378
Race/ethnicity $\rightarrow$ Neighborhood Safety $\rightarrow$ Short Sleep Duration			
African American	.005	.006	.371
American Indian/Alaska Native	.001	.001	.405
Asian	.001	.002	.423
Latinx	.004	.005	.366
Race/ethnicity $\rightarrow$ Neighborhood Social Cohesion $\rightarrow$ Short Sleep			
Duration			
African American	001	.001	.163
American Indian/Alaska Native	.001	.001	.236
Asian	.003	.002	.085
Latinx	.002	.001	.084
Race/ethnicity $\rightarrow$ Parental Socioeconomic Status $\rightarrow$ Short Sleep			
Duration			
African American	011	.004	.007
American Indian/Alaska Native	003	.001	.017
Asian	001	.001	.427
Latinx	014	.005	.007
Race/ethnicity $\rightarrow$ Single Parent Household $\rightarrow$ Short Sleep Duration			
African American	.013	.007	.071
American Indian/Alaska Native	<.001	.001	.818
Asian	001	.001	.327
Latinx	.003	.002	.081

Pathways (n=13,019)	β	SE	p-value
Total Effects:			
Race/ethnicity $\rightarrow$ Very Short Sleep Duration			
African American	.088	.015	<.001
American Indian	.022	.021	.302
Asian	.037	.022	.085
Latinx	004	.023	.832
Direct Effects:			
Race/ethnicity $\rightarrow$ Very Short Sleep Duration			
African American	.064	.021	.003
American Indian	.017	.021	.408
Asian	.035	.022	.106
Latinx	025	.025	.313
Race/ethnicity →Neighborhood Socioeconomic Disadvantage			
African American	.397	.029	<.001
American Indian	.069	.021	.001
Asian	.008	.025	.752
Latinx	.237	.033	<.001
Race/ethnicity → Neighborhood Safety			
African American	186	.023	<.001
American Indian	039	.020	.053
Asian	050	.026	.051
Latinx	167	.021	<.001
Race/ethnicity →Neighborhood Social Cohesion			
African American	.031	.015	0.042
American Indian	019	.010	.063
Asian	084	.012	<.001
Hispanic	067	.012	<.001
Race/ethnicity $\rightarrow$ Parental Socioeconomic Status			
African American	180	.028	<.001
American Indian	054	.014	<.001
Asian	014	.016	.397
Latinx	222	.021	<.001
Race/ethnicity $\rightarrow$ Single Parent Household			
African American	.287	.020	<.001
American Indian	.005	.020	.786
Asian	021	.016	.191
Latinx	.071	.021	.001
Neighborhood Socioeconomic Disadvantage $\rightarrow$ Very Short	0.10	000	000
Sleep Duration	016	.032	.630
Neighborhood Satety $\rightarrow$ Very Short Sleep Duration	020	.042	.640

**Supplemental Table 2-1.** Sensitivity Analysis examining the Association Between Race/ethnicity and Very Short Sleep Duration (< 6 hours) Mediated by Neighborhood and Household Environmental Factors

Neighborhood Social Cohesion $\rightarrow$ Very Short Sleep Duration	019	.025	.455
Parental Socioeconomic Status→ Very Short Sleep Duration	071	.035	.042
Single Parent Household→ Very Short Sleep Duration	.051	.040	.205
Indiract Effects			
Tetel:			
Total:			
Race/ethnicity $\rightarrow$ very Short Sleep Duration	004	0.45	400
African American	.021	.015	.168
American Indian	.004	.003	.194
Asian	.002	.003	.380
Latinx	.020	.010	.039
Specific:			
Race/ethnicity $\rightarrow$ Neighborhood Socioeconomic Disadvantage $\rightarrow$	Very		
Short Sleep Duration			
African American	010	.013	.425
American Indian	001	.002	.625
Asian	<.001	<.001	.774
Latinx	004	.008	.627
Race/ethnicity $\rightarrow$ Neighborhood Safety $\rightarrow$ Very Short Sleep			
Duration			
African American	.004	.008	.625
American Indian	.001	.002	.650
Asian	.001	.002	.664
Latinx	.003	.007	.644
Race/ethnicity $\rightarrow$ Neighborhood Social Cohesion $\rightarrow$ Very Short			
Sleep Duration			
African American	001	.001	.511
American Indian	<.001	.001	.503
Asian	.002	.002	.461
Latinx	.001	.002	.454
Race/ethnicity $\rightarrow$ Parental Socioeconomic Status $\rightarrow$ Very Short			
Sleep Duration			
African American	.013	.007	.067
American Indian	.004	.002	.079
Asian	.001	.001	.469
Latinx	.016	.008	.049
Race/ethnicity $\rightarrow$ Single Parent Household $\rightarrow$ Very Short Sleep			
Duration			
African American	.015	.011	.181
American Indian	<.001	.001	.789
Asian	001	.001	.402
Latinx	.004	.003	.205

Abbreviations:  $\beta$ = Standardized probit coefficients, SE = Standard Error Model fit: Root mean square error of approximation = 0.014, comparative fit index = 0.995, and standardized root mean square residual = 0.015

Note: Whites are the referent group in all pathways. Model adjusted for sex and age

# Chapter 3: Racial/Ethnic and Sex/Gender Differences in Sleep Duration Trajectories from Adolescence to Adulthood in a U.S. National Sample

# Abstract

Racial/ethnic and sex disparities in sleep duration have been documented in both adolescence and adulthood. Identifying race and sex differences in sleep duration trajectories from adolescence to adulthood can inform interventions on the developmental periods individuals are most at risk for short sleep duration. We examined racial/ethnic and sex/gender differences in self-reported sleep duration trajectories from adolescence to adulthood using data from Waves I, III, IV, and V of the National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent to Adult Health (1994-2018; n=12,593). Multi-group growth mixture modeling was used to enumerate sleep duration trajectories from adolescence to adulthood. There were three common trajectory types across race and sex groups: 1) Consistent Increasing Short Sleepers (i.e., increasing probability of short sleep into adulthood) (67.3%); 2) Late Onset Short Sleepers (i.e., no probability of short sleep duration in adolescence until adulthood) (20.2%); and 3) Early Onset Short Sleepers (i.e., declining probability of short sleep duration from adolescence into adulthood) (12.5%). The prevalence of the Consistent Increasing trajectory was highest among African American males, while Late Onset was highest among White females and Early Onset being the greatest among Latinx Males. Findings underscore the need to intervene in early adolescence to prevent short sleep duration in adulthood.

# Introduction

Sleep plays a vital role in physical and cognitive development across the life span (198, 199). Short sleep duration (<8 hours 13-18 years of age and <7 hours for adults over the age of 18) (149, 150) has been implicated in a wide range of negative physical and mental health outcomes, such as obesity, diabetes, hypertension, and depression, among both adolescents and adults (24, 200-203). In the U.S., as high as 70% of adolescents and 35% of adults selfreported short sleep duration (40, 41). The transition from adolescence to adulthood is a critical period with a variety of biological and socio-contextual changes that converge leading to a decline in sleep duration into adulthood. Possible biological processes include a circadian phase delay during pubertal development that favors an evening chronotype and the development of a sleep-wake homeostatic system that allows for more wakefulness during the daytime; both processes result in a progressively later bedtime from early adolescence into young adulthood (88). In combination with a later bedtime, socio-contextual pressures such as early school start times during adolescence, academic and work demands, increasing responsibilities as they become independent from their parents, and family formation, present additional barriers to sleep (89, 90). In addition, racial/ethnic minorities and women have unique socio-contextual experiences from adolescence to adulthood that may impact their sleep duration patterns differentially across the life course that warrant further research.

Significant racial disparities in sleep duration have been well documented. African American, Asian, and Hispanic/Latino adolescents, generally report shorter sleep duration than non-Hispanic White adolescents with similar disparities found among adults (42, 43). These racial disparities in sleep duration may be attributed to the persistent racially discriminatory institutional and interpersonal policies and practices that subject racial/ethnic minorities to greater social disadvantage and restrict them from accessing opportunities and resources beneficial to health (44). For instance, research suggest that racial/ethnic minorities have greater exposure to factors detrimental to sleep such as psychosocial stressors, shift work,

lower socioeconomic status, acculturation, and adverse physical (e.g. air and noise pollution) and social neighborhood environments (e.g. lower social cohesion and safety) (45, 47-52). These socio-contextual factors are more salient among racial/ethnic minorities and could result in different sleep duration trajectories from adolescence to adulthood compared to their White peers.

Research examining sex differences in sleep duration among adolescents have mixed findings with some studies suggesting shorter sleep duration among females (40, 54, 55) while others show longer sleep duration (56-58) than males. Short sleep duration among adolescent females could be attributed to earlier pubertal onset than males. Although the need for sleep increases during puberty due to growth spurts, changes in biological sleep regulation (e.g. more wakefulness in the evenings and later bedtimes) coupled with social factors (e.g. early school start times and increased academic pressure) may result in reduced sleep duration (61). This is also the beginning of the menstrual cycle where fluctuations of hormones (e.g. estrogen and progesterone) may result in shorter sleep among females. Adolescent females are also more likely to have household responsibilities such as chores and caretaking (62) that may decrease the amount of time for sleep. On the other hand, shorter sleep duration among adolescent males may be due to their poorer sleep hygiene practices (e.g. greater caffeine intake and more screen time) than adolescent females (63, 64).

Among adults, the majority of studies indicate that women have longer sleep (55, 65-68) duration while a few studies suggest shorter sleep duration than men (69, 70). Although women tend to experience greater psychosocial stressors (e.g. gender-based discrimination, occupational stress, and financial strain) (46, 72-75) that are detrimental to sleep, they may be more likely to seek and receive social support than males (76-78) which could help buffer the negative impact of these stressors on sleep (79, 80). Research, although sparse, suggest that shorter sleep duration among males may be due to the poorer sleep hygiene and less positive attitude towards healthy sleep behaviors when compared to females (81) Shorter sleep

duration among adult females may be attributed to the hormonal changes (e.g. estrogens and progesterone) that occur during pregnancy and menopause (71). In addition, gendered expectations pressure women into performing more labor including childcare and housework interfering with time for sleep (68). The interaction of these various biological and sociocultural factors may play a role in shaping a sleep duration trajectory from adolescence to adulthood for women that may differ from men.

Studies have generally examined sleep disparities in relation to one social identity (e.g. race or gender), with few attempting to explore the impact of multiple identities (e.g. race/ethnicity and sex) on sleep. In the context of public health, intersectionality is a theoretical framework that seeks to understand how the interplay of multiple social identities (e.g. race, gender, social class, sexual orientation, and disability) provide individuals advantages/disadvantages that will influence their health and create health inequities (82). There is growing recognition for the need of an intersectional perspective in addressing health disparities and in particular sleep disparities (43). There is evidence that sleep duration differs jointly by race/ethnicity and sex in adolescent and adult populations (57, 84-87). For example, a study among high school students in Pennsylvania and another study among adults from the Multiethnic Study of Atherosclerosis (MESA) found that Black men and women reported the shortest sleep duration, while White women reported the longest (57, 84, 85). However, these studies have primarily focused on documenting race and sex differences in sleep duration in one developmental period.

Assessing sleep duration across multiple developmental periods is important given that there is evidence to suggest that sleep duration from earlier developmental periods can influence health later in life. For instance, studies have found that short sleep duration during adolescence is associated with obesity (91) and high cholesterol (92) in young adulthood. Rather than focusing on the impact of sleep at one point in time, examining the impact of sleep duration across multiple developmental periods may be more informative in predicting health

outcomes. For instance, a study among a national U.S. cohort, found that cumulative short sleep duration (< 6 hours/day) from adolescence to adulthood is associated with increased risk of obesity. (93)

An important approach to examining sleep duration across developmental periods is through characterizing sleep duration trajectories. Sleep duration trajectories could help to determine critical periods of inadequate sleep duration, which may be useful for informing sleep interventions. Yet, studies describing sleep duration trajectories across the life course remain limited. The few studies that have examined sleep duration trajectories from adolescence to adulthood have found various distinct trajectories (94-96). A study conducted using a nationally representative U.S. cohort found four trajectories that included increasing, decreasing, consistently adequate (>7 hours/night), and consistently short sleep duration (< 7 hours/night) from adolescence to young adulthood (12-32 years old). Another study of a Brazilian birth cohort found three sleep duration trajectories from adolescence to young adulthood (11-22 years old) with differences by sex (97). In this study, both males and females had a trajectory of constant reduction in sleep duration from adolescence to young adulthood and another trajectory of decreasing sleep from age 11 to 18 that remained constant from age 18 to 22. However, for the third trajectory, both males and females had an increase in sleep duration from age 11 to 18, but for males, the sleep remained constant from 18 to 22 years while it decreased for females during that age range. Furthermore, a study that assessed self-reported sleep duration among Norwegian students at ages 13, 15, 23, and 30 years found various trajectories with the most prevalent trajectory being those with short sleep duration ( $\leq 8.5$  hours at age 13 years,  $\leq 8$  hours at age 15 years, and  $\leq 7$  hours at age 23 and 30 years) in early adolescence (age 13 years) that stabilizes into normal sleep (>8.5 hours at age 13 years, >8 hours at age 15 years, and >7 hours at age 23 and 30 years) in mid adolescence to adulthood (ages 15-30 years) (96). However, the studies did not apply an intersectionality framework to examine sleep duration trajectories from adolescence to adulthood by race/ethnicity and sex/gender.

Investigating race/ethnicity and sex/gender differences in sleep duration trajectories within and between each of these groups across the life course can help identify critical developmental periods where groups may be the most at risk for short sleep and susceptible to changes in sleep duration. This information could be used to develop interventions targeting specific developmental periods to reduce sleep disparities and ultimately health disparities.

To expand upon prior literature, the primary purpose of this study was to utilize an intersectionality approach to describe race/ethnicity and sex/gender differences in sleep duration trajectories from adolescence to adulthood.

# Methods

#### Study Population and Data Source

Participants were from the National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent to Adult Health (Add Health) which is a nationally representative school-based sample with the purpose of investigating adolescent behaviors and their health in adulthood (140). There were 80 high schools and 52 middle schools selected with respect to region of country, urbanicity, school size, school type, and ethnicity to ensure representative of U.S. schools. Between 1994-1995, 90,118 participants from the participating schools were administered an in-school guestionnaire related to school extracurricular activities, friendships, and health status. An in-home interview was conducted during those same years among a subset of these participants to form Wave I of the study (n=20,745). An additional four follow-up surveys were conducted on the subset of the Wave I participants: Wave II in 1996 (n=14,738; mean age=16.2 years), Wave III from 2001-2002 (n=15,197; mean age=22.0 years), Wave IV in 2008 (n=15,701; mean age=28.5 years), and Wave V from 2016-18 (n=12,300; mean age=37.0 years). A more in-depth description of the study design and procedures have been published elsewhere (140). In these analyses, those who identified as African American male, African American female, Hispanic male, Hispanic female, White male, White female from Wave I were included (n=18,649). Those with missing sleep duration data in Waves I, III, IV, and V were excluded (n=51). Long sleepers

(defined as >12 hour for 6-12 years old, >10 hours for 13-18 years old, >9 hours for over 18 years old) in any of the Waves were excluded (n=6,020) instead of being grouped with short sleepers or those with the recommended amount of sleep. The reason is that the mechanisms linking long sleep to health may differ from those linking short sleep to health (204) and the sample size for long sleepers in Wave I (n=556) and V (n=480) was small. The final analytic sample was 12,593 participants. Characteristics that included age, sex, race/ethnicity, parental education, participant education level, depressive symptoms, body mass index, and self-reported health were compared between those included and those excluded (See Supplemental Table 3-1). Those excluded were more likely to be female, have higher parental education and education level, report on average greater depressive symptoms, and more likely to report having fair or poor health across all Waves. Supplemental Figure 3-1. The original Add Health study was approved by the institutional review board of the University of North Carolina, Chapel Hill and written consent forms were obtained from adolescents and their parents. This current analysis was approved by the institutional review board of Emory University.

# Study Measures

#### Sleep Duration

Measurements of sleep duration varied by Waves. In Waves I and V, participants were asked to respond in whole hours to the question, "How many hours of sleep do you usually get?" In Waves III and IV, sleep duration was assessed by the following four items: 1) "On days when you go to work, school, or similar activities, what time do you usually wake up?"; 2) "What time do you usually go to sleep the night (or day) before?"; 3) "On days you don't have to get up at a certain time, what time do you usually get up?"; 4) "On those days, what time do you usually go to sleep the night or day before?". The first two questions are used to measure sleep hours during the weekday while questions 3 and 4 are for weekend sleep hours. Total sleep hours per day was calculated by a weighted average based on prior studies conducted on sleep

using the Add Health dataset, in which sleep hours during the weekday is multiplied by 5/7 and added to sleep hours during the weekend multiplied by 2/7 (93, 156). The recommended amount of sleep by age from the American Academy of Sleep Medicine (AASM) is 9-12 hours for 6-12 years old, 8-10 hours for 13-17 years old, and 7-9 hours for 18 or older (149, 150) and was categorized in analyses as short sleep duration (less than recommended by AASM) vs. healthy sleep duration (within recommended by AASM).

#### Race/ethnicity and Sex/Gender

Race/ethnicity categories were constructed based on recommendations by the Add Health research team (151). Respondents were first asked whether they were of Hispanic or Latino origin. A separate question asked respondents to indicate their race with White, Black or African American, American Indian or Native American, Asian or Pacific Islander, or Other as possible answers and the ability to select multiple racial groups. Those that indicated being Hispanic or Latino origin were categorized as "Hispanic" for their race/ethnicity. If participants did not indicate they were of Hispanic or Latino origin and selected "black or African American" as one of their racial identities, they were categorized as African American for their race/ethnicity, and their other selected racial categories were disregarded. This was repeated for the remaining racial groups in the following order: Asian, Native American, Other, and non-Hispanic White. Hereafter, Hispanic will be referred to as Latinx and non-Hispanic White will be referred to as White. Sex was assessed by asking whether respondents identified male or female. Add Health did not include a separate measure for gender, thus sex in this study will be used also be used to represent gender. The combined race/ethnicity and sex/gender categories for the analyses included the following six groups: African American male, African American female, Latinx male, Latinx female, White male, White female. Asian, Native American and Other race and sex combinations were excluded due to inadequate sample size for analysis. Statistical Analysis

The distribution of participant characteristics were examined by race/ethnicity and sex using chi-square tests and ANOVA. There are several approaches to modeling longitudinal data with growth curve modeling being the most common. Unlike conventional growth curve modeling approaches that assume individuals come from a single population with common parameters (e.g., slopes, intercepts, and error variances) and that a single growth trajectory is representative of an entire population, growth mixture model (GMM) is a person-centered approach that relaxes these assumptions and allows for different groups of individual growth trajectories to vary around different parameters (133). Given our interest to apply an intersectionality framework and the poor model fit of single GMMs for this sample, multi-group GMMs were conducted to enumerate the sleep duration trajectory classes across the developmental periods for each race/ethnicity and sex/gender group. Models examined changes in probability of short sleep duration across developmental periods. Developmental periods were determined based on prior literature and included early adolescence (11-14 years), adolescence (15-19 years), emerging adulthood (20-24 years), young adulthood (25-34 years), and adulthood (35-44 years) (205-207). Since Waves I and II data were collected only a year apart, some participants had two sleep duration data points in the early adolescence or adolescence developmental period. Data in GMM need to be time-structured and to-date no options are available to account for clustering within a time frame (208). Thus, both data points were unable to be included in the analyses. To address this issue, GMM models including data from Wave I, III, IV, and V were conducted and compared to models including data from Waves II, III, IV, and V. Models including data from Wave I had better model fit and interpretability of classes than with data from Wave II. Therefore, results from analyses including Wave I are discussed below. Two to four class models were estimated and compared using the Akaike information criterion (AIC), Bayesian information criterion (BIC), and entropy. The best fitting model was determined based on lower AIC and BIC, higher entropy, and interpretability of classes (209). Growth mixture models were conducted using MPlus v8.4 with a maximum

likelihood estimator and expectation maximization algorithm (154). Missing data was addressed with full information maximum likelihood. Descriptive analyses were conducted in SAS v.9.4.

# Results

# **Descriptive Analyses**

Across developmental periods, the mean age was 13.4 years (SD=0.7) in early adolescence, 16.7 years (SD=1.3) in adolescence, 22.1 years (SD=1.3) in emerging adulthood, 28.7 years (SD=1.9) in young adulthood, and 38.2 years (SD=1.8) in adulthood (Table 3-1). The prevalence of short sleep duration varied by developmental periods with 29.7% in early adolescence, 46.8% in adolescence, 31.4% emerging adulthood, 30.5% in young adulthood, and 46.1% in adulthood. Short sleep duration was most prevalent among African American males across all developmental periods except early adolescence where African American females were more likely to have short sleep duration.

#### Multi-group Growth Mixture Models by Intersectionality Dimensions of Race/Ethnicity and Sex

The three-class model was the best performing model with the lowest AIC and BIC and the highest entropy (Supplemental Table 3-2). Thus, this resulted in 18 trajectories, i.e., three trajectories for each of the six race/ethnicity and sex intersectionality groups (Figure 3-1, Figure 3-2, and Supplemental Table 3-3). Through visual inspection, we found that the 18 trajectories could be grouped into three common sleep duration trajectory types as the three trajectories for each intersectionality group varied but were qualitatively comparable. The most prevalent trajectory (67.3%) type was labeled "Consistent Increasing Short Sleepers" as the sleep pattern began in early adolescence at a mid-level probability (ranging from 0.44-0.46) of short sleep duration and consistently increased into adulthood (probability ranging from 0.47-0.67). The second most prevalent trajectory type was labeled "Late Onset Short Sleepers" as this group represented those who had zero probability of short sleep duration from adolescence to young adulthood, but had a probability of short sleep duration in adulthood (20.2%). The least common

trajectory type was labeled as "Early Onset Short Sleepers" (12.5%) and included those with a high probability for short sleep duration during early adolescence only as short sleep declines to a low probability in the adult developmental periods.

Although these 18 trajectories could be grouped into three common trajectory types, within an intersectionality framework, there were notable differences between the race/ethnicity and sex groups across and within each of these trajectory types (Figure 3-1 and 3-2). First, the distribution of the trajectory types varied by race/ethnicity and sex groups (Table 3-2). Latinx males were the most likely to have an Early Onset Short Sleeper trajectory type. The Consistent Increasing Short Sleeper trajectory type was the most prevalent among African American males while the prevalence of Late Onset Short Sleeper trajectory type was the highest among White females. Second, the trajectories themselves varied across intersectionality groups. These differences are described below by race/ethnicity and sex/gender groups.

#### African American Females

Among African American females, the Consistent Increasing Short Sleeper trajectory, the probability of short sleep duration begins at 0.48 in early adolescence and ends at a probability of 0.60 with a consistent 0.03 probability increase across each of the developmental periods. The Early Onset Short Sleeper trajectory was characterized by a high probability (1.00) of short sleep duration in early adolescence and adolescence, but a sharp decline to zero probability in emerging adulthood that was maintained into adulthood. In the Late Onset Short Sleeper trajectory, there was zero probability of short sleep duration from early adolescence to young adulthood, but a mid-level probability (0.42) in adulthood.

#### African American Males

In the Consistent Increasing Short Sleeper trajectory, the probability of short sleep duration in early adolescence was 0.45 and grew to 0.67 in adulthood with an approximate average 0.05 increase in probability across each of the developmental periods. Similar to African American females, the Early Onset Short Sleeper trajectory for African American males

begin with a high probability of short sleep duration during early adolescence (1.00) and adolescence (0.93), but zero probability across all adult developmental periods. For the Late Onset Short Sleeper trajectory, there was zero probability of short sleep duration across all developmental periods except adulthood with a probability of 0.33.

#### Latinx Females

The Consistent Increasing Short Sleeper trajectory begins with a 0.46 probability of short sleep duration in early adolescence and consistently increases by 0.01 across developmental periods to 0.45 in adulthood. For the Early Onset Short Sleeper trajectory, there was a similarly high probability (1.00) of short sleep duration in early adolescence and adolescence, but declines to a low probability (0.06) in emerging adulthood that further decreases to zero in both young adulthood and adulthood. In the Late Onset Short Sleeper trajectory, the probability of short sleep duration is zero from early adolescence to young adulthood and increases to 0.29 in adulthood.

#### Latinx Males

The trajectories were the most unique among Latinx males. The Consistent Increasing Short Sleeper trajectory was similar to African American males with a 0.44 probability of short sleep duration in early adolescence that increase on average by 0.06 in probability across each subsequent developmental period resulting in a 0.67 probability in adulthood. However, for the Early Onset Short Sleeper trajectory, it begins with a mid-level probability (0.41) of short sleep duration in early adolescence and gradually declines to a low probability in adulthood (0.11). This is different from the other race/ethnicity and sex/gender groups where the probability sharply declines from a high probability of short sleep duration in adolescence to zero probability in adulthood. In addition, the Late Onset Short Sleeper trajectory had a zero probability of short sleep duration from early adolescence to young adulthood, but surges to 0.88 in adulthood. Among this trajectory type, Latinx males had by far the highest probability in adulthood compared to the other race/ethnicity and sex/gender groups.

# White Females

White females had the lowest growth in probability for short sleep duration across the developmental periods for the Consistent Increasing trajectory. In this trajectory, the probability of short sleep duration (0.45) remains constant from early adolescence to adolescence and increases in emerging adulthood (0.46) which remains constant into adulthood. Similar to Latinx females and White males, the Early Onset Short Sleeper trajectory among White females begins with the same high probability (1.0) of short sleep duration in both early adolescence and adolescence with drastic decline to a low probability in emerging adulthood (0.06) and zero probability in young adulthood and adulthood. For the Late Onset Short Sleeper trajectory, there was a zero probability of short sleep duration starting in early adolescence to young adulthood with an increase to a 0.33 probability in adulthood.

# White Males

For the Consistently Increasing Short Sleeper trajectory, the early adolescence probability of short sleep duration was 0.37 that increases to 0.52 in adulthood with an average 0.04 increase in the probability in each subsequent developmental periods. The Early Onset Short Sleeper trajectory among White males was comparable to Latinx and White females in which there is a high probability (1.0) of short sleep duration in both adolescent periods with a sharp decline to a low probability (0.06) in emerging adulthood that decreases to zero in the other adult developmental periods. In the Late Onset Short Sleeper trajectory, there was no probability of short sleep duration across developmental periods until adulthood with a 0.52 probability.

# Discussion

Our study found three common sleep duration trajectory types from adolescence to adulthood in a nationally representative sample accounting for race and sex. These three sleep duration trajectory types included Early Onset Short Sleepers who had declining probability of

short sleep from adolescence to adulthood, Consistent Increasing Short Sleepers with increasing probability of short sleep duration from adolescence to adulthood, and Late Onset Short Sleepers with no probability of short sleep duration until adulthood. The distribution of these trajectory types differed across race/ethnicity and sex groups. Furthermore, there were observable differences across race and sex groups within each of these trajectory types.

The most prevalent sleep trajectory type in the overall sample were Consistent Increasing Short Sleepers. This suggests that for many individuals, the continual increase would eventually lead to consistent high risk for short sleep in older adulthood. Within each racial/ethnic group, the trajectory was more prevalent among males than females except for Latinx participants. The higher prevalence among males in general may be explained by the poorer sleep hygiene among males observed in adolescent and adult studies (63, 64, 81). Between racial/ethnic groups, this trajectory was the most prevalent among African American participants with the highest prevalence particularly among African American males. This is in line with studies that have shown African American males were the most likely to have the shortest average sleep duration in both adolescent and adult populations (57, 85, 87, 156). This may be due to stress related to the persistent discrimination African American males' experience (e.g. police brutality and criminal profiling) throughout the life course (210-212). In addition, various sociocultural factors (e.g. masculine socialization, stigma, and lack of access to healthcare and economic resources) may prevent African American males from seeking and receiving support to help mitigate the harmful psychological effects of discrimination (213-215). The high prevalence of this sleep trajectory among African American males may contribute to the significant health disparities (216) among this group across the life span.

The second most common trajectory was Late Onset Short Sleepers. A potential explanation for the healthy sleep duration from early adolescence to young adulthood is that these individuals may be in environments (e.g. higher household SES, greater neighborhood safety and social cohesion) that are more optimal for sleep (45, 118, 217). In adulthood, the

increase in probability of short sleep duration may be explained by the growing responsibilities and demands such as work and family formation that reduces the amount of time for sleep (90). Across all racial/ethnic groups, females were more likely to have a Late Onset Short Sleeper trajectory with the greatest prevalence among White females. This may be attributed to family formation and gendered expectations that pressure them into being the primary caretaker of the family allocating less time for sleep (68).

The Early Onset Short Sleepers were the least common trajectory overall. The existence of this trajectory could be due to the socio-contextual changes that occur as people transition from early adolescence into later adolescence. These changes may include earlier school start times, academic pressure, and greater social commitments due to an expanding social network, that all could prevent adolescents from obtaining adequate sleep duration (89, 218). As these individuals transition into adulthood and become free from the early school start times, they may enter the workforce or attend college where there may have greater flexibility in tailoring their sleep schedule (219-221). Across race/ethnicity, this trajectory was generally more prevalent among females with the exception of Latinx individuals. The higher occurrence of this trajectory among females may be due to being pressured into more responsibilities than males during early adolescence (e.g., caretaking and chores) that reduce the amount of time for sleep (62). However, as these individuals transition into adulthood and seek greater independence and autonomy, they often enter the workforce or attend postsecondary education allowing them to relinquish some of these responsibilities (90, 222).

Within the trajectory types, Latinx Males had the most distinct trajectories compared to the other race and sex groups. In the Late Onset trajectory, Latinx males had, by far, the highest probability of short sleep duration in adulthood. Also, the Early Onset trajectory for Latinx males differed from other groups with a lower probability of short sleep duration in early adolescence and a gradual decline in the probability of short sleep duration from adolescence into adulthood instead of a sharp decline. These findings for Latinx males could be due to the aggregating of

Latinx subgroups that included Mexican Americans, Puerto Ricans, Central/South Americans, and Cubans, into a single classification. By doing so, the diverse sociocultural context of Hispanic subgroups (e.g. levels of acculturation and nativity) were not accounted for that could potentially have influenced their sleep duration throughout adolescence to adulthood (50, 163, 164, 223, 224).

There are at least three strengths to this study. First, this is one of few studies to examine sleep duration trajectories from adolescence to adulthood including an older adult assessment time point compared to prior trajectory studies (94, 95). Second, to our knowledge, this is one of the first studies to use an intersectionality approach to examine race/ethnicity and sex differences of sleep trajectories. Finally, this study include a large diverse nationally representative cohort, which increases the generalizability of the results.

These findings should be interpreted within the context of the limitations in this study. One limitation of this study is the potential measurement error of sleep duration due to selfreporting. Prior studies have found that participants tend to overestimate their sleep duration when compared to objective measures such as actigraphy among both adolescents and adults (57, 194-196, 225-227). In the adult literature, there is evidence that measurement error of sleep duration may vary by race/ethnicity and sex/gender (195, 196, 227). For instance, in a study with MESA data comparing self-reported to actigraphy assessed weekend sleep duration ,Whites were more likely to overestimate their sleep duration than Blacks and Black women were more likely to overestimate their sleep than Black men (196). It is currently unclear whether these race and sex differences in measurement error exists among adolescents. Race and sex differences in the overestimation of sleep in both adolescence and adulthood may have led race and sex variations in the underestimation of the Consistent Increasing Short Sleeper trajectory type. Another limitation was that sleep duration was ascertained in whole hours in Waves I and V and not exact time. Furthermore, sleep duration was measured differently in Waves I and V by asking a single question of "How many hours of sleep do you usually get?"

whereas Waves III and IV weekday and weekend sleep duration. The variation in measurement prevented this study from examining whether the results would have differed by weekend and weekday sleep duration. This may be important given that adolescents and adults generally sleep less during the weekday and more during the weekend (88, 228, 229). Since weekday sleep duration is weighted higher than weekend sleep duration in calculating the average sleep duration per day, any changes in weekday sleep duration would more likely influence the trajectories than weekend sleep duration.

Future research should replicate this study with objective measures of sleep duration such as actigraphy and examine the trajectories of other sleep dimensions beyond duration. While beyond the scope of this study, future studies should examine the various factors that influence sleep are socially patterned by race/ethnicity and sex/gender (e.g. neighborhood and household environments, and depressive symptoms) (45, 230, 231), additional research is needed to examine the impact of these factors on race and gender differences in the development of sleep trajectories. Furthermore, future work should investigate these trajectories in relation to health outcomes, given that insufficient sleep duration across the life course is associated with poor health outcomes. These future studies will be important in developing more informed strategies to mitigate racial/ethnic and sex/gender health disparities.

The findings from this study have important implications for public health professionals and researchers. The results underscore the need to examine sleep within an intersectionality framework in order to advance sleep disparities research. The consequences of examining a single social identity may result in inaccurate documentation of the sleep disparities and subsequently ineffective strategies to reduce these disparities. Overall, this study highlights the need to intervene in both adolescence and adulthood. Intervening as early as adolescence to prevent short sleep in adulthood would be particularly important given that a high proportion of the sample had an increasing likelihood of short sleep duration from early adolescence to adulthood. It is also important to note that there was no trajectory of consistent healthy sleep

duration from adolescence to adulthood. This indicates that individuals would need some type of intervention at either adolescence or adulthood. Implementing targeted strategies for specific race/ethnicity and sex/gender groups at particular development periods can help improve sleep, and reduce racial/ethnic and sex/gender disparities in sleep.

			African Americ	an	African America	an	Latin	x			White			
Characteristics	Total (N=12.593)		Female (N=1 525)		Male (N-1 573)		Female (N=1 126)		Latinx Male		Female (N=3,236)		White Male (N=3 831)	
onaraoteriotico	,oc	<u>%</u>	(11-1,525) (11-1,575) (11-1)		<u></u> N	<u>%</u>	N %		<u>N %</u>		<u>N %</u>			
Developmental Periods		70		70		70		70		70		70		70
Early Adolescence	3,283	26.1	443	29.0	432	27.5	236	21.0	253	19.4	955	29.5	964	25.1
Adolescence	10,111	80.3	1,201	78.8	1,221	77.6	934	82.9	1,112	85.4	2,561	79.1	3,073	80.2
Emerging Adulthood	7,018	55.7	852	55.7	780	49.6	578	51.3	670	51.5	1,951	60.3	2,187	57.1
Young Adulthood	ung Adulthood 8,911 70.		1,132	74.2	934	59.4	762	67.7	806	61.9	2,476	76.5	2,741	71.5
Adulthood	Adulthood 6,938 55.		880	57.7	613	39.0	614	54.5	533	40.9	2,142	66.2	2,146	56.0
Short Sleep Duration	Sleep Duration													
Early Adolescence*	975	29.7	174	39.3	158	36.6	72	30.5	76	30.0	278	29.1	217	22.5
Adolescence*	4,728	46.8	612	51.0	625	51.2	476	50.5	485	43.6	1,222	47.7	1,308	42.6
Emerging Adulthood*	2,202	31.4	270	31.7	309	39.6	159	27.5	231	34.5	501	25.7	732	33.5
Young Adulthood*	2,721	30.5	380	33.6	471	47.4	190	24.9	275	34.1	548	22.1	857	31.3
Adulthood*	3,197	46.1	522	59.3	387	63.1	286	46.6	256	48.0	844	39.2	902	42.0
Age in years <sup>a</sup>														
Early Adolescence	13.	4 (0.7)	13.	3 (0.7)	13.	4 (0.7)	13.	4 (0.7)	13.	4 (0.7)	13.4	4 (0.7)	13.4	4 (0.7)
Adolescence	16.	7 (1.3)	16.	7 (1.3)	16.	7 (1.3)	16.	7 (1.2)	16.	8 (1.2)	16.7	7 (1.3)	16.6	6 (1.3)
Emerging Adulthood	22.1 (1.3)		22.1 (1.3)		22.1 (1.3)		22.2 (1.3)		22.4 (1.3)		22.1 (1.4)		22.1 (1.3)	
Young Adulthood	28.	7 (1.9)	28.	6 (1.9)	(1.9) 28.7 (1.9)		29.0 (1.8)		29.1 (1.8)		28.6 (1.9)		28.7 (1.8)	
Adulthood	38.	2 (1.8)	38.	1 (1.8)	38.	38.3 (1.8) 38.5 (1.7)		38.6 (1.8)		37.9 (1.8)		38.2 (1.8)		

**Table 3-1.** Participant Characteristics by Race/Ethnicity and Sex/Gender from Waves I, III, IV, and V of the National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent to Adult Health, United States, 1994-2018

<sup>a</sup>Values expressed as mean (standard deviation)



**Figure 3-1.** Multi-Group Growth Mixture Model Short Sleep Duration Trajectories by Race/Ethnicity among Females, United States, 1994-2018

**Note:** The Early Onset trajectory for Latinx and White females are overlapping. The Late Onset trajectories are overlapping at zero probability from early adolescence to young adulthood for all race groups.



**Figure 3-2.** Multi-Group Growth Mixture Model Short Sleep Duration Trajectories by Race/Ethnicity among Males, United States, 1994-2018

**Note:** The Early Onset trajectory for African American and White males overlap at zero probability from young adulthood to adulthood. The Late Onset trajectories are overlapping at zero probability from early adolescence to young adulthood for all race groups.

**Table 3-2.** Distribution of Growth Mixture Model Short Sleep Duration Trajectories byRace/Ethnicity and Sex/Gender, United States, 1994-2018

	Consistent Increasing (N=8,475; (	t 67.3%)	Late Or (N=2,54 20.2%)	nset 2;	Early Onset (N=1,576; 12.5%)		
						<u> </u>	
Race/Ethnicity and Sex	N	%	N	%	N	%	
African American							
Female	1,047	68.7	346	22.7	132	8.7	
Male	1,363	86.7	164	10.4	46	2.9	
Latinx							
Female	731	64.9	277	24.6	118	10.5	
Male	630	48.4	36	2.8	636	48.9	
White							
Female	1,787	55.2	1,039	32.1	410	12.7	
Male	2,917	76.1	680	17.8	234	6.1	





**Supplemental Table 3-1.** Comparison of Analytical Sample to Excluded Sample from Waves I, III, IV, and V of the National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent to Adult Health, United States, 1994-2018

	Analytic San	nple	Exclude	d
Characteristics	(n=12,593)		(n=6,305	
	Ν	%	Ν	%
Female, n (%)	5,887	46.8	3,594	53.4
Race/ethnicity, n (%)				
African American	3,098	24.6	1,571	25.9
Hispanic	2,428	19.3	1,097	18.1
White	7,067	56.1	3,388	55.9
Age in years <sup>a</sup>				
Wave I	1:	5.7 (<0.1)	1	5.5 (<0.1)
Wave III	:	22.0 (1.8)		21.8 (1.8)
Wave IV	:	28.5 (1.8)		28.3 (1.8)
Wave V	;	38.1 (1.9)		37.8 (1.9)
Highest Parental Education, Wave 1				
< high school	3,646	30.3	1,791	31.4
High school graduate	1,585	13.2	903	15.8
Some college	2,635	21.9	1,202	21.1
College or graduate education	4,180	34.7	1,804	31.7
Highest Education, Wave 3, n (%)				
< high school	1,343	16.1	579	11.0
High school graduate	3,440	41.3	1,836	34.8
Some college	2,603	31.2	2,009	38.1
College or graduate education	952	11.4	851	16.1
Highest Education, Wave 4, n (%)				
< high school	2,962	33.2	1,411	26.3
High school graduate	3,732	41.8	2,119	39.5
Some college	1,622	18.2	1,275	23.8
College or graduate education	607	6.8	562	10.5
Highest Education, Wave 5, n (%)				
< high school	3,037	42.6	1,399	34.8
High school graduate	2,717	38.1	1,512	37.6
Some college	1,136	15.9	866	21.5
College or graduate education	242	3.4	247	6.1
Depressive Symptoms <sup>a</sup>				
Wave I		11.0 (7.5)		11.7 (7.7)
Wave III		6.2 (3.2)		6.6 (3.4)
Wave IV		7.6 (3.6)		8.1 (4.0)
Wave V		2.3 (2.5)		2.5 (2.7)
Body Mass Index in kɑ/m²ª		. ,		. ,
Wave I		22.6 (4.4)		22.5 (4.6)
	-	- ( /		- ( )

Wave III		26.5 (6.0)		26.3 (6.3)
Wave IV		29.3 (7.5)		29.2 (7.7)
Wave V		30.7 (7.6)		31.1 (8.2)
Self-reported Health, Wave 1				
Excellent	3,656	29.0	1,665	27.6
Very Good	5,069	40.3	2,261	37.4
Good	3,026	24.0	1,651	27.3
Fair	772	6.1	435	7.2
Poor	66	0.5	32	0.5
Self-reported Health, Wave 3				
Excellent	2,818	33.8	1,686	31.9
Very Good	3,453	41.4	2,070	39.2
Good	1,746	20.9	1,232	23.3
Fair	304	3.6	268	5.1
Poor	21	0.3	27	0.5
Self-reported Health, Wave 4				
Excellent	1,735	19.4	1,038	19.3
Very Good	3,509	39.3	1,917	35.7
Good	2,887	32.4	1,833	34.2
Fair	714	8.0	507	9.5
Poor	78	0.9	72	1.3
Self-reported Health, Wave 5				
Excellent	1,201	16.8	649	16.1
Very Good	2,666	37.4	1,379	34.3
Good	2,373	33.3	1,378	34.3
Fair	751	10.5	497	12.4
Poor	142	2.0)	117	2.9

<sup>a</sup>Values expressed as mean (standard deviation)

**Supplemental Table 3-2.** Growth Mixture Model Fit Indicators for Short Sleep Duration Trajectories by Race/Ethnicity and Sex/Gender, United States, 1994-2018

Number of Classes	AIC	BIC	Entropy
2	89591.49	89851.93	0.80
3	89184.43	89578.80	0.86
4	89184.66	89712.96	0.83

Note: Models were conducted with 5000 starts using an expectation maximization algorithm. The best log likelihood was not replicated for 2- and 4-class models.

**Supplemental Table 3-3.** Multi-Group Growth Mixture Model Results - Estimated Probabilities Across Developmental Periods for Each Trajectory Type by Race/Ethnicity and Sex/Gender, United States, 1994-2018 (n=12,593)

	Estimated Probabilities for Each Trajectory Type by Race/ethnicity and Sex																	
	African American Female			African American Male			Latinx Female		Latinx Male		White Female			White Male				
	Туре:			Type:		Type:		Type:				Type:		Type:				
	С	E	L	С	Е	L	С	Е	L	С	Е	L	С	Е	L	С	Е	L
Early Adolescence (11-14 years)	.48	1.00	0	.45	1.00	0	.46	1.00	0	.44	.41	0	.45	1.00	0	.37	1.00	0
Adolescent (15-19 years)	.51	1.00	0	.50	.93	0	.47	1.00	0	.50	.31	0	.45	1.00	0	.41	1.00	0
Emerging Adulthood (19-24 years)	.54	0	0	.56	.00	0	.48	.06	0	.56	.23	0	.46	.06	0	.45	.11	0
Young Adulthood (25-34 years)	.57	0	0	.62	.00	0	.49	0	0	.61	.16	0	.46	0	0	.49	0	0
Adulthood (35-44 years)	.60	0	.42	.67	.00	.33	.50	0	.29	.67	.11	.88	.46	0	.23	.52	0	.17

Abbreviations for trajectory type: C = Consistent Increasing Short Sleepers (i.e., increasing probability of short sleep into adulthood); E = Early Onset Short Sleepers (i.e., declining probability of short sleep from adolescence into adulthood); L = Late Onset Short Sleepers (i.e., no probability of short sleep in adolescence, but in adulthood)

# Chapter 4: Racial/Ethnic and Sex/Gender Differences in the Association between Sleep Duration Trajectories and Adult Cardiometabolic Risk in a U.S. National Sample

# Abstract

Research understanding the impact of sleep duration across developmental periods on adult cardiometabolic risk factors (CRFs) remains limited. Using data from Waves I, III, IV, and V of the National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent to Adult Health (1994-2018; n=2,302), growth mixture modeling and Poisson regression with robust error variance was used to estimate racial/ethnic and sex/gender differences in the association between self-reported sleep duration trajectories from adolescence to adulthood and adult CRFs (e.g., diabetes, dyslipidemia, elevated C-reactive protein (CRP), high waist circumference, hypertension, obesity, and metabolic syndrome). Females, irrespective of race, and White males with an Early Onset (i.e., declining probability of short sleep duration from adolescence into adulthood) or Late Onset (i.e., no short sleep duration until adulthood) compared to a Consistent Increasing (i.e., increasing probability of short sleep into adulthood) trajectory, generally had lower prevalence of CRFs. However, there was a higher prevalence of dyslipidemia for African American males and elevated CRP for Latinx males in Early and Late Onset trajectories. These findings highlight the cumulative and long-term influence of sleep duration on adult cardiometabolic health and the need to consider both adolescent and adult sleep duration when investigating the association between sleep duration and adult cardiometabolic risk.
# Introduction

Cardiovascular disease (CVD) remains one of the leading causes of death in the U.S. accounting for 1 in every 4 deaths among adults (1). Racial/ethnic and sex/gender disparities in the prevalence of cardiometabolic risk factors have been well documented among adults (1). The prevalence of obesity is the highest among non-Hispanic Black and Hispanic females, and diabetes is the most prevalent among non-Hispanic Black and Hispanic males (1). Interventions to address these disparities have primarily focused on physical activity, diet, and tobacco use (15, 232). An emerging area of interest for interventions to prevent CVD risk is sleep.

Previous systematic reviews and meta-analyses in adult populations have linked short sleep duration (<7 hours of sleep per night) to numerous cardiometabolic risk factors such as obesity (19, 20), diabetes (202), hypertension (24), high cholesterol (26), and inflammation (27). Biological pathways in which sleep duration may influence cardiometabolic risk may be through altering metabolic hormones. Studies examining the associations of short sleep duration with appetite-regulating hormones found that short sleep duration was associated an increase in ghrelin and reduction in leptin (33, 34). These changes can result in increased hunger and appetite for high fat, sweet, starchy and salty foods subsequently increasing the risk for obesity, type-2 diabetes, hypertension, and dyslipidemia. Additionally, shorter sleep duration has been linked to decreased insulin sensitivity, which is directly related to an increased risk for type-2 diabetes, lower HDL cholesterol and higher triglyceride levels (35-37). Research also suggests that shorter sleep duration is associated with sympathetic nervous system hyperactivity resulting in elevated blood pressure (233). Furthermore, short sleep may lead to immune dysregulation and inflammation, which is associated with increased cardiometabolic risk (234, 235). Studies on behavioral pathways have found that shorter sleep duration is associated with lower levels of physical activity, and greater sedentary behaviors, smoking, and alcohol consumption, which may subsequently increase the risk for obesity, hypertension, dyslipidemia, inflammation, and diabetes (10, 236-245).

Research suggests that there may be a long-term impact of sleep duration on cardiometabolic health Longitudinal studies among children with multiple measures of sleep duration have found that increases in sleep duration is associated with decreases in body mass index and insulin resistance in later childhood (246, 247). On the contrary, prospective studies among adults with multiple assessments of sleep duration suggest that increases in sleep duration increases weight gain and diabetes risk, but improves diet quality and physical activity in later adulthood (248, 249). Collectively these studies indicate that there may be a lasting impact of sleep duration on cardiometabolic health, but whether there is longer-term impact into later developmental periods is not well understood. Studies among a nationally representative U.S. sample have found that shorter sleep duration during adolescence was associated with obesity (91) and high cholesterol for women (92) in young adulthood. However, these studies only included single measurements of sleep in one point in time. Including multiple measurements of sleep duration across various developmental periods is important as it may provide further insight on the on the long-term and cumulative impact of short sleep duration. For instance, studies conducted in U.S. nationally representative samples found that consistent short sleep duration (<6 hours) from adolescence to young adulthood was associated with a greater likelihood for obesity (93) and asthma (94) in young adulthood. However, there are limited studies exploring sleep duration trajectories from adolescence to adulthood in relation to adult cardiometabolic health. These studies are important for developing prevention strategies as this knowledge can provide greater clarity on the developmental periods when sleep influences adult cardiometabolic health

Short sleep duration is prevalent among both adolescents and adults. Approximately 40% of adolescents (40) and 35% of adults (41) report sleep less than the recommended amount of sleep by age. Racial/ethnic and sex/gender disparities in sleep duration among both adolescents (42, 56) and adults (43) have been documented with studies indicating that on average, African American males and females have the shortest sleep duration while White

females have the longest sleep duration (42, 43, 56, 57). Despite research suggesting that various sleep duration trajectories may exist from adolescence to adulthood (94, 95), no large cohort study to our knowledge has explored race/ethnicity and sex/gender differences in these trajectories. Racial/ethnic and sex/gender differences in sleep duration trajectories from adolescence to adulthood could occur given that various race and sex groups have unique sociocultural experiences (e.g. racism and sexism) that could differentially shape their sleep duration across the life course (46). Given that sleep duration is associated with cardiometabolic risk in both adolescent and adult populations, disparities in sleep duration trajectories during adolescence to adulthood could also possibly contribute to the observed racial/ethnic and sex/gender disparities in adult cardiometabolic health.

Thus, the purpose of this study is to examine racial/ethnic and sex differences in the association between sleep duration trajectories and cardiometabolic risk factors. We hypothesize that persistent short sleep duration from adolescence to adulthood will be associated with a greater likelihood for cardiometabolic risk factors.

# Methods

#### Study Population

Data were from the National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent to Adult Health (Add Health). Add Health is nationally representative longitudinal study examining adolescent behaviors and various health outcomes in adulthood. From 1994-1995, 90,118 students were recruited from 80 high schools and 52 middle schools based on region of country, urbanicity, school size, school type, and race/ ethnicity to participate in an in-school questionnaire regarding their extracurricular activities, relationships, and health behaviors. A random subsample of these students (n=20,745) were selected in 1995 to participate in the Wave I inhome interviews for more comprehensive information. Four follow-ups were conducted with the sample from Wave I that comprised Wave II in 1996 (n=14,738; mean age=16.2 years), Wave

III from 2001-2002 (n=15,197; mean age=22.0 years), Wave IV in 2008 (n=15,701; mean age=28.5 years), and Wave V from 2016-2018 (n=12,300; mean age=37.0 years). In Wave V, a random subsample of participants from the Wave I in-home interviews was selected and agreed to anthropometric assessments and blood sample collection (n=5,381). The study design and sampling methods are described in greater detail elsewhere (140).

Those with missing data on sleep across all Waves of data and those who did not identify as African American, Hispanic, or White were excluded (n=2,109). Long sleepers (defined as >12 hour for 6-12 years old, >10 hours for 13-18 years old, >9 hours for over 18 years old) were removed for analyses instead of being grouped with short sleepers or those with the recommended amount of sleep. This decision was based on prior literature suggesting that pathways connecting long sleep to health may differ from those linking short sleep to health and there was a limited sample size of long sleepers in Wave I (n=556) and V (n=480) (204, 250-253). The final sample consisted of 12,593 participants for the sleep duration trajectory analyses. For analyses examining the association between sleep duration trajectories and each cardiometabolic risk factor, those without blood draws for biomarker measures (e.g., hemoglobin A1c, fasting glucose, blood pressure measurements, lipid levels, and high sensitivity C-reactive protein) and those who refused to provide or had invalid anthropometric measures (e.g., height, weight, and waist circumference) (n=610) and had high-sensitivity Creactive protein (hs-CRP) >10 mg/L were excluded (n=216) resulting in 2,302 participants for the analytic sample. In comparing the analytic sample (n=2,302) to those excluded, (i.e., nonparticipants of Wave V or had missing data) (n=18,443), participants were more likely to be African American, Hispanic, female, and have diabetes, elevated CRP, and high waist circumference, but less likely to have parents that completed a college education or completed college themselves (Supplemental Table 4-1). The Add Health study was approved by the institutional review board of the University of North Carolina, Chapel Hill with written consent

forms obtained from adolescents and their parents. This current analysis was approved by the institutional review board of Emory University.

# Race/Ethnicity and Sex

Categories for race/ethnicity were created based on recommendations from Add Health investigators (151). In Wave I, participants were asked whether they were of Hispanic or Latino origin. A separate question asked participants to indicate their race with White, Black or African American, American Indian or Native American, Asian or Pacific Islander, or Other as potential choices with the ability to select multiple racial groups. Participants that identified being Hispanic or Latino origin were racialized as "Hispanic" and were eliminated from any race category they selected. If participants did not indicate they were of Hispanic or Latino origin and selected "black or African American" as one of their racial identities, they were designated as African American for their race/ethnicity, and were omitted from the other selected racial categories. This was repeated for the remaining racial groups in the following order: Asian, Native American, Other, and non-Hispanic White. Hence forth, Hispanic will be referred to as Latinx and non-Hispanic White will be referred to as White. Participants were asked to identify their sex as male or female. The Add Health study did not assess gender as a separate construct. Therefore, sex will represent both the biological and social aspects (e.g., gender). For this analysis, race/ethnicity and sex/gender groups included African American male, African American female, Latinx male, Latinx female, White male, and White female. Other race/ethnicity and sex/gender groups were excluded due to their small sample size (n=443).

#### Sleep Duration Trajectories

Sleep duration was measured in Waves I and V by asking participants to provide a response in whole hours to the question "How many hours of sleep do you usually get?" In Waves III and IV participants were asked the following four questions: 1) "On days when you go

to work, school, or similar activities, what time do you usually wake up?"; 2) "What time do you usually go to sleep the night (or day) before?"; 3) "On days you don't have to get up at a certain time, what time do you usually get up?"; 4) "On those days, what time do you usually go to sleep the night or day before?". The first two items were subtracted to estimate the sleep hours during the weekday while the other two items were used for weekend sleep hours. Total sleep hours per day was calculated using a weighted average of the weekday and weekend sleep duration (2/7\*weekends + 5/7\*weekdays). The American Academy of Sleep Medicine (AASM) guidelines by age for healthy sleep is 9-12 hours for 6-12 years old, 8-10 hours for 13-18 years old, and 7-9 hours for 18-64 years old (149, 150). Categories of sleep duration included short sleep duration (less than recommended by AASM) vs recommended sleep duration (within the recommended by AASM) with long sleepers (more than recommended by AASM) being excluded for the sleep duration trajectories. Multiple group growth mixture models (GMMs) were then used to identify sleep duration trajectories from adolescence to adulthood for each race and sex group. The GMMs examined changes in the probability of short sleep duration by developmental periods, which included early adolescence (11-14 years), adolescence (15-19 years), emerging adulthood (20-24 years), young adulthood (25-34 years), and adulthood (35-44 years). The 3-class, compared to the 2 and 4-class models, was the best fitting model based on having the lowest Akaike and Bayesian information criterion, and highest entropy. The model resulted in 18 different trajectories (i.e., three trajectories for each race and sex group) with varying probabilities. Based on visual inspection, these trajectories were grouped into three common trajectory types: 1) Consistent Increasing Short Sleepers (i.e., increasing probability of short sleep into adulthood); 2) Late Onset Short Sleepers (i.e., no probability of short sleep duration in adolescence until adulthood); and 3) Early Onset Short Sleepers (i.e., declining probability of short sleep duration from adolescence into adulthood). The distribution of the sleep duration trajectory types by race/ethnicity and sex/gender are displayed in Figures 3-1

and 3-2. Methods for the enumeration of sleep duration trajectories by race and sex have been described in greater detail in our previous study (254).

# Cardiometabolic Risk Factors (CRFs)

The CRFs were measured using the standardized protocol for the in-home interviews by trained staff at Wave V (255-259). Height was measured to the nearest 0.5 cm using a carpenter's square, steel tape measure, and adherent Post-it note. Weight was measured to the nearest 0.1 kg using a digital scale. Body mass index (BMI) was calculated as weight in kilograms divided by height in meters squared. Waist circumference was assessed to the nearest 0.5 cm at the superior border of the iliac crest using a circumference tape measure. Systolic and diastolic blood pressure were measured three times at 30-second intervals, after the participant had rested five minutes in a seated position, using an oscillometric blood pressure monitor. The average of the second and third readings were used for the analysis. Venous blood samples were collected during the home visit and assayed in a laboratory for triglycerides, total cholesterol, high-density lipoprotein (HDL) cholesterol, low-density lipoprotein (LDL) cholesterol, glucose, hemoglobin A1c (HbA1c), and hs-CRP. CRFs included in analyses were dichotomized based on clinical cutoffs: obesity (BMI  $\ge$  30 kg/m<sup>2</sup>) (260), high waist circumference ( >102 cm for males/ >88 cm for females) (260), diabetes (HbA1c ≥6.5% or fasting glucose ≥126 mg/dl or non-fasting glucose ≥200 mg/dl or self-reported history of diabetes except during pregnancy or anti-diabetic medication-use in the past 4 weeks) (261), hypertension (systolic  $\geq$ 130mm Hg and/ or diastolic  $\geq$  80 mm Hg blood pressure) (262), and dyslipidemia (fasting or non-fasting total cholesterol  $\geq 200 \text{ mg/dl}$ , fasting triglycerides  $\geq 150$ mg/dl or fasting or non-fasting HDL cholesterol <40 mg/dl or fasting LDL cholesterol > 100mg/dl) (263), and elevated CRP (hs-CRP> 3 mg/L) (264). The definition of diabetes also included selfreported information due to the small sample size of participants with diabetes based only on glucose and HbA1c measures (n=88).

#### Statistical Analysis

Distribution of participant characteristics were compared by race/ethnicity and sex using chi-square tests and ANOVAs. Trajectory classes from the GMMs from our prior study (254) were used to conduct stratified analyses by race/ethnicity and sex/gender groups to examine associations between sleep duration trajectories (Early Onset and Late Onset vs. Consistent Increasing) and each of the CRFs. This was conducted using Poisson regression models with robust error variance to estimate prevalence ratios (PR) and 95% confidence intervals (CI) because of the high prevalence of each CRF (>10%). However, diabetes prevalence was low (>10%) across race and sex groups, thus logistic regression was utilized to estimate the odds ratio (OR) and the 95% CIs. The regression models discussed below (see Table 4-2) did not account for sampling weights given the GMMs were not weighted and a smaller sample size due to missing sampling weights. Sensitivity analyses were conducted applying sampling weights to the regression models for comparison to the unweighted results (Supplemental Table 4-2). Descriptive analyses and both Poisson and logistic regression models were conducted with SAS v9.4 (152).

#### Results

#### Sample Characteristics

Racial/ethnic and sex differences in sleep duration trajectories and each of the CRFs are shown in Table 4-1 for the sample analyzed in the Poisson and logistic regression models. Overall, the mean age was 37.9 years and the most prevalent sleep duration trajectory was Consistent Increasing (57.7%), followed by Early Onset (14.6%) and then Late Onset (27.7%). The most prevalent CRF in the overall sample was dyslipidemia (62.5%) followed by hypertension (49.3%), high waist circumference (48.8%), obesity (44.6%), elevated CRP (37.9%), and then diabetes (6.9%). The Early Onset short sleep duration trajectory was the most prevalent among Latinx males while the Consistent Increasing trajectory was the most prevalent among African American males and the Late Onset trajectory was the most common among White females. The prevalence of CRFs were the highest among African American and Latinx participants with significant sex differences.

# Regression Results Stratified by Race/ethnicity and Sex/Gender (See Table 4.2)

# African American Females

The prevalence of hypertension was lower among Early Onset compared to Consistent Increasing short sleepers (PR: 0.88; 95% CI: 0.27, 0.97). There were no differences in the prevalence of other CRFs comparing Early and Late Onset to Consistent Increasing trajectory. <u>African American Males</u>

The prevalence of dyslipidemia was higher among Early (PR: 1.49; 95% CI: 1.21, 1.85) and Late Onset (PR: 1.29; 95% CI: 0.99, 1.68) compared to Consistent Increasing short sleepers. No other significant associations were found in comparing the prevalence of the CRFs between trajectories.

#### Latinx Females

Early Onset compared to Consistent Increasing short sleepers were more likely to have elevated CRP (PR: 0.43; 95% CI: 0.19, 0.98). There was no association for the other CRFs. Those with a Late Onset trajectory were less likely to have elevated CRP (PR: 0.62; 95% CI: 0.38, 1.03), high waist circumference (PR: 0.65; 95% CI: 0.45, 0.94) and obesity (PR: 0.58; 95% CI: 0.38, 0.88) than those with a Consistent Increasing trajectory, but no associations were detected for the other CRFs.

#### Latinx Males

There were no associations found comparing Early Onset to Consistent Increasing short sleepers. The prevalence of elevated CRP (PR: 2.15; 95% CI: 1.03, 4.51) were higher among

Late Onset compared to Consistent Increasing short sleepers, but there were no differences found for the other CRFs.

#### White Females

The prevalence of elevated CRP (PR: 0.61; 95% CI: 0.43, 0.86), high waist circumference (PR: 0.74; 95% CI: 0.59, 0.92), and obesity (PR: 0.76; 95% CI: 0.58, 1.00) was lower for Early Onset compared to Consistently Increasing short sleepers, and no differences were found for the other CRFs. Similar associations were found comparing Late Onset to Consistent Increasing short sleepers with a lower prevalence of elevated CRP (PR: 0.75; 95% CI: 0.60, 0.93), high waist circumference (PR: 0.88; 95% CI: 0.77, 1.01), obesity (PR: 0.80; 95% CI: 0.66, 0.96), and metabolic syndrome (PR: 0.71; 95% CI: 0.54, 0.93) among Late Onset short sleepers.

### White Males

Early Onset compared to Consistent Increasing short sleepers were more likely to have dyslipidemia (PR: 1.10; 95% CI: 0.98, 1.24), but less likely to have obesity (PR: 0.71; 95% CI: 0.51, 0.99). No associations were observed for the other CRFs. For the Late Onset to Consistent Increasing trajectory comparison, Late Onset short sleepers were less likely to have high waist circumference (PR: 0.74; 95% CI: 0.58, 0.94), hypertension (PR: 0.88; 95% CI: 0.76, 1.01), and obesity (PR: 0.71; 95% CI: 0.57, 0.89), but no other significant associations with the other CRFs were found.

#### Sensitivity Analysis

Analyses accounting for Add Health weights yielded similar results to the unweighted analyses. The primary difference was that weighted results had less precise confidence intervals due to a smaller sample size from excluding participants with missing data on weights. (Supplemental Table 4-2).

# Discussion

In a nationally representative U.S. sample, there were racial/ethnic and sex/gender differences in the association between sleep duration trajectories from adolescence to adulthood and adult cardiometabolic risk factors. The findings support our hypothesis that those with consistent short sleep duration from adolescence to adulthood would be more likely to have adverse cardiometabolic health. Females, irrespective of race, and White males with an Early Onset or Late Onset (i.e., no short sleep duration until adulthood) compared to a Consistent Increasing trajectory, generally had lower prevalence of CRFs. However, there was a higher prevalence of dyslipidemia for African American males and elevated CRP for Latinx males in the Early and Late Onset compared to the Consistent Increasing trajectory.

The results from this study are consistent with prior research examining the cumulative impact of sleep duration from adolescence to adulthood on health during adulthood. Two separate studies utilizing data from Add Health found that consistent short sleep duration from adolescence to young adulthood was associated with a higher likelihood of obesity (93) and asthma (94) when compared to those with consistent adequate sleep. Our study expanded on these prior studies by examining racial/ethnic and sex/gender differences in the cumulative impact of short sleep duration from adolescence to adulthood on adult cardiometabolic health. The null findings for some CRFs among the various race and sex groups may be attributed to the small sample in each strata that resulted in the study being underpowered to detect an association.

The contrasting findings of a higher prevalence of dyslipidemia for Early and Late Onset compared to Consistent Increasing short sleepers among African American males could also be explained by the small sample size of Early and Late Onset short sleepers that resulted in spurious associations. Another explanation for the higher prevalence of dyslipidemia for Early Onset compared to Consistent Increasing short sleepers is the high probability of short sleep duration during adolescence among Early Onset short sleepers whereas Consistent Increasing

short sleepers have approximately half the probability for short sleep duration in adolescence. This suggests that short sleep duration during adolescence may have a long-term adverse impact on adulthood cardiometabolic health absent of short sleep in adulthood. A previous Add Health study also found that short sleepers during adolescence were more likely to have high cholesterol in young adulthood (92). In addition, our findings for Latinx males having greater prevalence of elevated CRP among Late Onset short sleepers could be due to the high probability of short sleep duration in adulthood for Late Onset compared to the Consistently Increasing short sleepers who had consistent mid-level probability of short sleep duration from adolescence to adulthood. Collectively, the results from this and prior research highlight the long term impact of sleep and the need to include longitudinal measures of sleep duration across the life course when investigating the relationship between sleep duration and adult cardiometabolic risk for specific race/ethnicity and sex/gender groups.

There were at least three strengths of this study. First, the longitudinal design allows for the examination of the impact of sleep duration across developmental periods on adult cardiometabolic risk. Second, the study was conducted among a large racially diverse sample that allowed for comprehensive analysis of subgroup differences. Finally, this study was able to include objective measurements (e.g. venous blood samples and measured height, weight, and waist circumference) for each cardiometabolic risk factor, which is important for reducing measurement error based on self-report.

Despite these strengths, there are at least two limitations that need to be considered when interpreting the results. First, the assessment of sleep duration based on self-report in which past research has shown that both adolescents (57, 194, 225, 265) and adults (195, 196, 227) tend to over report their sleep duration compared to objective measures (e.g., actigraphy) with variations by race/ethnicity and sex/gender among adult populations (195, 196). For example, a study comparing actigraphy to self-reported sleep using data from the Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis found that Black and Hispanic women had the highest self-reporting

bias, followed by White women and men, then Chinese women, and finally Black and Hispanic men (196). Data from the Jackson Heart Study found that self-reported averaged sleep duration was an underestimate while self-reported wake-bed differences were overestimates of actigraphy-assessed sleep duration (266). These potential measurement errors may have influenced the results for the growth mixture models in which the greater over reporting by some race/ethnicity and se/gender groups may have underestimated the prevalence of individuals in the consistent increasing probability of short sleep duration. Additionally, a large number of participants from the original Wave I in-home assessment who were excluded from analysis were more likely to be African American, Latinx, male, with lower education levels for their parents and themselves, and more likely to have cardiometabolic risk factors compared to those in the analyses. These differences in characteristics could potentially reduce the generalizability of these results.

To our knowledge, this is one of the first studies to investigate racial/ethnic and sex/gender differences in the impact of sleep duration trajectories from adolescence to adulthood on adult cardiometabolic health. The findings from this study underscore the need to consider adolescent sleep duration when investigating the relationship between sleep duration and adult cardiometabolic health. Furthermore, the implications of this research highlight the importance of intervening on sleep duration during adolescence in order to improve cardiometabolic health and reduce disparities in adulthood.

Future research should consider replicating this study with objective measures of sleep duration to reduce the amount of measurement error from self-reported sleep. Studies are also needed that include a larger sample size of diverse racial/ethnic minority participants with complete biomarker data to improve generalizability of results. Most importantly, future work must identify factors that buffer the impact of short sleep duration across the life course on adult cardiometabolic health for each race and sex group. This knowledge can be used to develop targeted interventions (e.g., sleep hygiene education, stress management, and increasing

physical activity) that help alleviate cardiometabolic risk and further reduce racial/ethnic and sex disparities in cardiometabolic health.

**Table 4-1.** Sample Characteristics by Race/Ethnicity and Sex/Gender for Analysis on the Association between Sleep DurationTrajectories and Cardiometabolic Risk Factors from the National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent to Adult Health, United States,1994-2018

Characteristics	Total (N=2,302	2)	African Americ Female (N=253	an 9 )	Africa Ameri Male (N=18	in ican 1)	Latin Fema (N=1	ale 74)	Latiny (N=15	k Male 8)	White Female (N=811	e )	White Male (N=72	e 25)
	N	%	Ν	%	Ν	%	Ν	%	Ν	%	Ν	%	Ν	%
Sleep Duration Trajectories														
Early Onset Short Sleepers	337	14.6	25	9.9	12	6.6	27	15.5	75	47.5	123	15.2	75	10.3
Consistent Increasing Short	1,328	57.7	159	62.9	150	82.9	95	54.6	70	44.3	388	47.8	466	64.3
Sleepers														
Late Onset Short Sleepers	637	27.7	69	27.3	19	10.5	52	29.9	13	8.2	300	37.0	184	25.4
Cardiometabolic Risk Factors														
Diabetes	159	6.9	24	9.5	17	9.4	16	9.2	8	5.1	48	5.9	46	6.3
Dyslipidemia	1,437	62.4	129	51.0	125	65.8	96	55.2	119	75.3	439	54.1	536	73.9
Elevated C-Reactive Protein	643	27.9	87	34.4	52	28.7	60	34.5	44	27.9	266	32.8	134	18.5
High Waist Circumference	1,123	48.8	181	74.5	69	38.1	92	52.9	66	41.8	433	53.4	282	38.9
Hypertension	1,135	49.3	126	49.8	124	68.5	42	24.1	99	62.7	281	34.7	463	63.9
Obesity	1,027	44.6	139	54.9	93	51.4	82	47.1	83	52.5	323	39.8	307	42.3

**Table 4-2.** Results for the Association between Sleep Duration Trajectories andCardiometabolic Risk Factors in Wave V of the National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent toAdult Health, United States, 1994-2018

Cardiometabolic Risk Factors by	Early vs. C	onsistent (Ref)	Late vs. Consistent (Ref)		
Race/Ethnicity and Sex/Gender	PR	95% CI	PR	95% CI	
African American Female (n=253)					
Diabetes	0.68	0.15, 3.13	0.48	0.16, 1.48	
Dyslipidemia	0.97	0.65, 1.46	0.87	0.62, 1.13	
Elevated CRP	0.68	0.33, 1.41	1.03	0.71, 1.50	
High Waist Circumference	0.89	0.65, 1.22	1.03	0.87, 1.22	
Hypertension	0.51	0.27, 0.97	0.85	0.63, 1.13	
Obesity	0.88	0.57, 1.35	1.06	0.83, 1.35	
Metabolic Syndrome	0.61	0.24, 1.54	0.88	0.53, 1.45	
African American Male (n=181)					
Diabetes	1.15	0.14, 9.74	0.70	0.09, 5.76	
Dyslipidemia	1.49	1.21, 1.85	1.29	0.99, 1.68	
Elevated CRP	1.16	0.50, 2.69	0.92	0.42, 2.03	
High Waist Circumference	1.08	0.54, 2.17	0.82	0.41, 1.63	
Hypertension	0.93	0.62, 1.41	0.66	0.41, 1.08	
Obesity	0.61	0.27, 1.38	0.67	0.37, 1.24	
Metabolic Syndrome	1.14	0.49, 2.63	0.90	0.41, 1.98	
Latinx Female (n=174)					
Diabetes	0.77	0.16, 3.77	1.02	0.32, 3.21	
Dyslipidemia	1.02	0.72, 1.46	0.83	0.60, 1.16	
Elevated CRP	0.43	0.19, 0.98	0.62	0.38, 1.03	
High Waist Circumference	0.72	0.46, 1.12	0.65	0.45, 0.94	
Hypertension	0.88	0.40, 1.93	0.91	0.50, 1.67	
Obesity	0.72	0.44, 1.17	0.58	0.38, 0.88	
Metabolic Syndrome	0.68	0.29, 1.59	0.70	0.37, 1.34	
Latinx Male (n=158)					
Diabetes	0.36	0.07, 1.90	1.08	0.12, 10.11	
Dyslipidemia	0.97	0.81, 1.16	0.90	0.61, 1.32	
Elevated CRP	1.43	0.82, 2.51	2.15	1.03, 4.51	
High Waist Circumference	1.07	0.72, 1.60	1.60	0.95, 2.69	
Hypertension	0.87	0.67, 1.13	1.17	0.83, 1.65	
Obesity	0.96	0.70, 1.31	1.16	0.72, 1.89	
Metabolic Syndrome	1.07	0.66, 1.74	1.28	0.59, 2.78	
White Female (n=811)					
Diabetes	0.81	0.34, 1.90	0.66	0.34, 1.27	
Dyslipidemia	1.00	0.84, 1.20	0.91	0.79, 1.05	
Elevated CRP	0.61	0.43, 0.86	0.75	0.60, 0.93	
High Waist Circumference	0.74	0.59, 0.92	0.88	0.77, 1.01	
Hypertension	1.09	0.84, 1.42	0.93	0.75, 1.15	
Obesity	0.76	0.58, 1.00	0.80	0.66, 0.96	

Metabolic Syndrome	0.83	0.58, 1.19	0.71	0.54, 0.93
White Male (n=725)				
Diabetes	0.90	0.17, 1.96	0.98	0.49, 1.95
Dyslipidemia	1.10	0.98, 1.24	0.96	0.87, 1.07
Elevated CRP	0.83	0.48, 1.44	0.90	0.62, 1.30
High Waist Circumference	0.82	0.59, 1.13	0.74	0.58, 0.94
Hypertension	0.95	0.78, 1.14	0.88	0.76, 1.01
Obesity	0.71	0.51, 0.99	0.71	0.57, 0.89
Metabolic Syndrome	0.75	0.52, 1.08	0.83	0.66, 1.05

Abbreviations: Ref = Referent Group, PR = Prevalence Ratio, CI = Confidence Interval, CRP = C-Reactive Protein

Note: The estimate for diabetes is an odds ratio.

Characteristics	Analytic Sample (n=2,302)	Excluded (n=18,443)
Race/Ethnicity and Sex/Gender Groups, % (n)*		
African American Female	11.0 (253)	13.5 (2,205)
African American Male	7.9 (181)	12.4 (2,030)
Hispanic Female	7.6 (174)	9.7 (1,577)
Hispanic Male	6.9 (158)	9.9 (1,616)
White Female	35.2 (811)	27.3 (4,461)
White Male	31.5 (725)	27.3 (4,458)
Age in years, Wave 1, mean (SD)	15.6 (1.7)	15.6 (1.8)
Age in years, Wave 5, mean (SD)*	37.9 (1.9)	38.0 (1.9)
Highest Parental Education, Wave 1, % (n)*		
< high school	25.7 (573)	30.5 (5,326)
High school graduate	10.0 (222)	14.0 (2,451)
Some college	22.7 (505)	21.1 (3,687)
College or graduate education	41.7 (930)	34.4 (6,011)
Highest Education, Wave 5, % (n)*		
< high school	2.7 (62)	4.5 (452)
High school graduate	12.3 (282)	18.8 (1,872)
Some college	36.9 (848)	37.7 (3,763)
College or graduate education	48.1 (1,104)	39.0 (3,895)
Cardiometabolic Risk Factors, Wave V, % (n)		
Diabetes*	6.9 (159)	10.0 (308)
Dyslipidemia	62.4 (1,437)	61.2 (1,489)
Elevated C-Reactive Protein*	27.9 (643)	44.2 (1,018)
High Waist Circumference*	48.8 (1,123)	53.3 (1,614)
Hypertension	49.3 (1,135)	48.2 (1,379)
Obesity	44.6 (1,027)	46.7 (1,389)

Supplemental Table 4-1. Comparison of Characteristics between Analytic Sample in Regression Models to those Excluded  $^{\rm t}$ 

<sup>†</sup>Excluded due to non-participation in Wave V or missing data

\*p-value <0.05, compared using chi-square tests for categorical variables or t-tests for continuous variables

**Supplemental Table 4-2.** Weighted Results for the Association between Sleep Duration Trajectories and Cardiometabolic Risk Factors in Wave V of the National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent to Adult Health, United States, 1994-2018

Cardiometabolic Risk Factors by	Early vs. C	onsistent (Ref)	Late vs. Consistent (Ref)		
Race/Ethnicity and Sex/Gender	PR	95% CI	PR	95% CI	
African American Female (n=239)					
Diabetes	1.76	0.48, 6.51	0.69	0.28, 1.71	
Dyslipidemia	0.81	0.41, 1.63	0.91	0.68, 1.21	
Elevated CRP	0.52	0.78, 1.73	1.17	0.78, 1.73	
High Waist Circumference	0.94	0.70, 1.25	1.08	0.90, 1.29	
Hypertension	0.79	0.36, 1.74	0.90	0.66, 1.23	
Obesity	1.00	0.63, 1.60	1.09	0.84, 1.41	
Metabolic Syndrome	1.20	0.46, 3.15	1.01	0.54, 1.87	
African American Male (n=179)					
Diabetes	0.50	0.05, 4.62	<.001	<.001, 0.04	
Dyslipidemia	1.65	1.35, 2.00	1.27	0.95, 1.71	
Elevated CRP	0.67	0.18, 2.56	0.44	0.13, 1.56	
High Waist Circumference	1.51	0.74, 3.06	0.85	0.41, 1.75	
Hypertension	0.95	0.53, 1.69	0.37	0.15, 0.89	
Obesity	0.53	0.16, 1.75	0.69	0.34, 1.41	
Metabolic Syndrome	1.01	0.28, 3.61	0.43	0.14, 1.34	
Latinx Female (n=167)					
Diabetes	4.23	1.10, 16.32	0.57	0.12, 2.75	
Dyslipidemia	1.72	1.21, 2.45	0.75	0.10, 1.40	
Elevated CRP	0.61	0.14, 2.61	0.67	0.27, 1.65	
High Waist Circumference	0.72	0.46, 1.12	0.65	0.45, 0.94	
Hypertension	2.56	0.90, 7.28	1.32	0.48, 3.61	
Obesity	0.66	0.23, 1.86	0.52	0.23, 1.17	
Metabolic Syndrome	1.85	0.82, 4.19	0.55	0.17, 1.81	
Latinx Male (n=154)					
Diabetes	0.18	0.01, 2.78	0.03	<0.01, 0.60	
Dyslipidemia	0.92	0.71, 1.20	1.09	0.91, 1.30	
Elevated CRP	1.11	0.40, 3.10	0.72	0.17, 3.06	
High Waist Circumference	0.54	0.25, 1.16	0.71	0.19, 2.63	
Hypertension	0.70	0.44, 1.13	1.27	0.83, 1.94	
Obesity	0.56	0.31, 1.01	0.39	0.34, 2.10	
Metabolic Syndrome	0.66	0.26, 1.66	1.16	0.26, 5.20	
White Female (n=796)					
Diabetes	0.72	0.23, 2.22	0.86	0.34, 2.17	
Dyslipidemia	0.97	0.78, 1.21	0.88	0.72, 1.07	
Elevated CRP	0.60	0.35, 1.04	0.94	0.71, 1.23	
High Waist Circumference	0.78	0.58, 1.04	0.95	0.77, 1.18	
Hypertension	0.96	0.67, 1.37	0.92	0.68, 1.25	
Obesity	0.75	0.53, 1.08	0.93	0.73, 1.17	

Metabolic Syndrome	0.87	0.56, 1.33	0.81	0.56, 1.18
White Male (n=717)				
Diabetes	0.19	0.04, 0.90	0.99	0.43, 2.28
Dyslipidemia	1.14	1.00, 1.30	0.97	0.84, 1.11
Elevated CRP	0.56	0.26, 1.20	1.10	0.75, 1.61
High Waist Circumference	0.79	0.52, 1.21	0.78	0.58, 1.06
Hypertension	0.93	0.69, 1.24	0.88	0.72, 1.06
Obesity	0.69	0.45, 1.07	0.67	0.51, 0.89
Metabolic Syndrome	0.78	0.50, 1.21	0.82	0.62, 1.08

Abbreviations: Ref = Referent Group, PR = Prevalence Ratio, CI = Confidence Interval, CRP = C-Reactive Protein

Note: The estimate for diabetes is an odds ratio.

#### Chapter 5: Public Health Implications and Future Research

#### **Public Health Implications**

Cardiometabolic diseases remain pervasive in the U.S. with persistent race and sex disparities reported (1). Sleep may be an important modifiable risk factor that can help decrease cardiometabolic disease burden since various studies have demonstrated an association between short sleep duration and increased adverse cardiometabolic risk factors (20, 38, 202, 235). Short sleep duration is highly prevalent among U.S. adolescents and adults with racial/ethnic and sex disparities documented across adolescent and adult populations (42, 43, 56). The majority of studies have investigated sleep disparities in one developmental period and in relation to one social identity (e.g. race or sex) with few studies applying an intersectionality framework in documenting sleep disparities jointly by race and sex and across developmental periods. In addition, the underlying mechanisms driving racial disparities in sleep duration among adolescents are not well understood and warrant further research. This dissertation attempted to address these critical gaps in the literature and inform policies and interventions to reduce sleep disparities and improve cardiometabolic health.

Aim 1 sought to examine whether the neighborhood (e.g. neighborhood socioeconomic disadvantage, social cohesion, and perceived safety) and household environment (e.g. household SES and living in a single parent household) partially explain the racial disparities in short sleep duration among adolescents. Findings from Aim 1 of this dissertation provide further insight to whether neighborhood and household environments play a role in producing racial disparities in sleep duration among adolescents. Although the neighborhood factors explored in this study were not found to be significant mediators, household SES may be an important mechanism driving these racial disparities in sleep duration. Unexpectedly, living in a higher SES household was associated with a higher probability of short sleep duration among adolescents. It is important to note that these findings should not be interpreted as the need to lower household SES among racial/ethnic minorities in order to reduce sleep disparities. Rather,

the implication of these findings is that a nuanced approach, such as taking into account household SES, is needed to develop effective interventions to mitigate racial disparities in sleep among adolescents. This may include implementing strategies to protect adolescents from the negative influence that living in a higher household SES environment has on sleep. Some of the factors linking higher household SES to sleep among adolescents may be greater academic pressures and access to extracurricular activities (e.g., private tutoring, student clubs, and sports) that reduce the amount of time for sleep. Particularly for racial/ethnic minorities, there is evidence to suggest that higher SES may not confer the same health benefits as for non-Hispanic Whites. This may be attributed to higher SES racial/ethnic minorities being more likely to experience greater racial discrimination and social isolation which is associated with shorter sleep duration. Potential school-based interventions could involve policies for later school start times to allow more time for sleep and implementing requirements for students and staff to enroll in anti-racism courses which could reduce experiences of racial discrimination for racial/ethnic minority adolescents.

Aim 2 of this dissertation investigated race and sex differences in self-reported sleep duration trajectories from adolescence to adulthood. The results revealed that, although there were 18 trajectories for each of the six race and sex groups, they can be grouped into three trajectory types: 1) Consistent Increasing Short Sleepers (i.e., increasing probability of short sleep into adulthood); 2) Late Onset Short Sleepers (i.e., no probability of short sleep duration in adolescence until adulthood); and 3) Early Onset Short Sleepers (i.e., declining probability of short sleep duration from adolescence into adulthood). Race and sex differences in the distribution of these sleep trajectory types were observed with African American males being the most likely to have the Consistent Increasing trajectory, Latinx males being the most likely to have a Late Onset trajectory, and non-Hispanic White females having the highest prevalence of an Early Onset trajectory. These findings suggest that sleep interventions during early adolescence may be crucial in preventing short sleep duration in adulthood, given that the

Consistent Increasing short sleep trajectory was the most prevalent in the total sample combined. However, across race and sex groups, the prevalence of the Consistent Increasing short sleep trajectory was the highest among African American males indicating that interventions to improve sleep and alleviate disparities may have the greatest public health impact in communities with a high proportion of African American males. Studies examining sleep disparities exclusively by race or sex may miss these nuances and inaccurately suggest certain race or sex groups to be at higher risk for short sleep duration when it may depend on both race and sex. These findings further add to the mounting evidence of the importance in using an intersectionality approach when documenting sleep disparities across the life course.

Aim 3, to our knowledge, is one of the first studies to examine the impact of sleep duration trajectories from adolescence to adulthood on adult cardiometabolic health by race and sex. Among females, irrespective of race, and White males, having a consistently increasing probability of short sleep duration was generally associated with a higher prevalence of cardiometabolic risk factors. On the contrary, there was a higher prevalence of dyslipidemia for African American males and elevated C-reactive protein for Latinx males who had a probability of short sleep in either adolescence or adulthood compared to those with an increasing probability of short sleep from adolescence into adulthood. Findings from this study reveal a long-term and cumulative impact of short sleep duration across the life course on cardiometabolic health. Moreover, the implications of these results suggests that interventions and policies to improve sleep may need to target specific race and sex groups and developmental periods in order to improve cardiometabolic health.

Altogether, this dissertation contributes to the literature by strengthening the case for the need to apply a life course framework in examining sleep in relation to adult cardiometabolic health. Doing so can advance sleep disparities research and inform interventions targeting specific race and sex groups at certain developmental periods to reduce these disparities. Ultimately, this can decrease cardiometabolic disease disparities.

# **Future Research**

The limitations of this dissertation provides insight for future studies to further advance sleep and cardiometabolic health disparities research. Across all of the aims, sleep duration was self-reported which can result in measurement error of sleep by race and sex. Although it may be resource intensive because of the long follow-up period and large sample size, future work should replicate these study aims using an objective measure of sleep such as actigraphy to reduce measurement error. Given the reduced sample size in Aim 3 due to missing cardiometabolic measures for a large number of participants, future studies examining the relationship between sleep duration trajectories and cardiometabolic health should recruit a larger and more racially diverse cohort with complete data on cardiometabolic risk factors. This can improve the power of the study and allow for the examination of other racial/ethnic and sex groups not included in our current study.

Beyond addressing the current limitations of this dissertation, future research must identify mechanisms underlying both race and sex sleep disparities and the relationship between sleep duration trajectories from adolescence to adulthood with adult cardiometabolic health. Given that race and sex were proxy measures for racism and sexism in this dissertation, future work must include direct assessments interpersonal and structural racism and sexism and assess its impact on sleep duration trajectories across the life course. Since Aim 1 findings suggest that adolescents living in a higher household SES were more likely to have short sleep duration, future studies should identify buffers that protect adolescents from the harmful effects of living in a higher household SES environment. Also, because Aims 2 and 3 found race and sex differences in sleep duration trajectories and associations with various adult cardiometabolic risk factors, future work should explore modifiable factors, such as depressive symptoms, physical activity, and diet, that may link sleep duration trajectories to adult cardiometabolic health. Understanding these mechanisms will be more informative in developing effective

interventions and strategies to help mitigate sleep and cardiometabolic health race and sex disparities.

# Funding

This research uses data from Add Health, a program project directed by Kathleen Mullan Harris and designed by J. Richard Udry, Peter S. Bearman, and Kathleen Mullan Harris at the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, and funded by grant P01-HD31921 from the Eunice Kennedy Shriver National Institute of Child Health and Human Development, with cooperative funding from 23 other federal agencies and foundations. Information on how to obtain the Add Health data files is available on the Add Health website (https://addhealth.cpc.unc.edu). No direct support was received from grant P01-HD31921 for this analysis.

Funding for this dissertation came from the National Institutes of Health (T32HL130025, R01HL125761, and F31HL151126-01A1).

# References

- 1. Virani Salim S, Alonso A, Aparicio Hugo J, et al. Heart disease and stroke statistics— 2021 update. *Circulation* 2021;143(8):e254-e743.
- 2. Benjamin Emelia J, Muntner P, Alonso A, et al. Heart disease and stroke statistics— 2019 update: A report from the american heart association. *Circulation*;0(0):CIR.0000000000659.
- 3. Conn VS, Hafdahl A, Phillips LJ, et al. Impact of physical activity interventions on anthropometric outcomes: Systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Prim Prev* 2014;35(4):203-15.
- 4. Askari M, Heshmati J, Shahinfar H, et al. Ultra-processed food and the risk of overweight and obesity: A systematic review and meta-analysis of observational studies. *International Journal of Obesity* 2020;44(10):2080-91.
- 5. Aune D, Norat T, Leitzmann M, et al. Physical activity and the risk of type 2 diabetes: A systematic review and dose-response meta-analysis. *European journal of epidemiology* 2015;30(7):529-42.
- 6. Jannasch F, Kröger J, Schulze MB. Dietary patterns and type 2 diabetes: A systematic literature review and meta-analysis of prospective studies. *The Journal of Nutrition* 2017;147(6):1174-82.
- 7. Liu X, Zhang D, Liu Y, et al. Dose-response association between physical activity and incident hypertension. *Hypertension (Dallas, Tex : 1979)* 2017;69(5):813-20.
- 8. Ndanuko RN, Tapsell LC, Charlton KE, et al. Dietary patterns and blood pressure in adults: A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *Adv Nutr* 2016;7(1):76-89.
- 9. Chelland Campbell S, Moffatt RJ, Stamford BA. Smoking and smoking cessation -- the relationship between cardiovascular disease and lipoprotein metabolism: A review. *Atherosclerosis* 2008;201(2):225-35.
- 10. Wang Y, Xu D. Effects of aerobic exercise on lipids and lipoproteins. *Lipids Health Dis* 2017;16(1):132-.
- 11. Vincent MJ, Allen B, Palacios OM, et al. Meta-regression analysis of the effects of dietary cholesterol intake on IdI and hdl cholesterol. *The American Journal of Clinical Nutrition* 2018;109(1):7-16.
- 12. Lee J, Taneja V, Vassallo R. Cigarette smoking and inflammation: Cellular and molecular mechanisms. *J Dent Res* 2012;91(2):142-9.
- 13. Fedewa MV, Hathaway ED, Ward-Ritacco CL. Effect of exercise training on c reactive protein: A systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised and non-randomised controlled trials. *British journal of sports medicine* 2017;51(8):670-6.
- 14. Giugliano D, Ceriello A, Esposito K. The effects of diet on inflammation: Emphasis on the metabolic syndrome. *Journal of the American College of Cardiology* 2006;48(4):677-85.
- 15. Crook ED, Bryan NB, Hanks R, et al. A review of interventions to reduce health disparities in cardiovascular disease in african americans. *Ethnicity & disease* 2009;19(2):204-8.
- 16. Mensah GA, Cooper RS, Siega-Riz AM, et al. Reducing cardiovascular disparities through community-engaged implementation research: A national heart, lung, and blood institute workshop report. *Circulation research* 2018;122(2):213-30.
- 17. Hale L, Troxel W, Buysse DJ. Sleep health: An opportunity for public health to address health equity. *Annual Review of Public Health* 2020;41(1):81-99.
- 18. Jackson CL, Walker JR, Brown MK, et al. A workshop report on the causes and consequences of sleep health disparities. *Sleep* 2020;43(8).
- 19. Wu Y, Zhai L, Zhang D. Sleep duration and obesity among adults: A meta-analysis of prospective studies. *Sleep Medicine* 2014;15(12):1456-62.

- 20. Bacaro V, Ballesio A, Cerolini S, et al. Sleep duration and obesity in adulthood: An updated systematic review and meta-analysis. *Obesity research & clinical practice* 2020;14(4):301-9.
- 21. Miller MA, Kruisbrink M, Wallace J, et al. Sleep duration and incidence of obesity in infants, children, and adolescents: A systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective studies. *Sleep* 2018;41(4).
- 22. Shan Z, Ma H, Xie M, et al. Sleep duration and risk of type 2 diabetes: A meta-analysis of prospective studies. *Diabetes care* 2015;38(3):529-37.
- 23. Dutil C, Chaput JP. Inadequate sleep as a contributor to type 2 diabetes in children and adolescents. *Nutrition & Diabetes* 2017;7(5):e266-e.
- 24. Wang Y, Mei H, Jiang Y-R, et al. Relationship between duration of sleep and hypertension in adults: A meta-analysis. *Journal of clinical sleep medicine : JCSM : official publication of the American Academy of Sleep Medicine* 2015;11(9):1047-56.
- 25. Fobian AD, Elliott L, Louie T. A systematic review of sleep, hypertension, and cardiovascular risk in children and adolescents. *Current hypertension reports* 2018;20(5):42.
- 26. Kruisbrink M, Robertson W, Ji C, et al. Association of sleep duration and quality with blood lipids: A systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective studies. *BMJ Open* 2017;7(12):e018585-e.
- 27. Irwin MR, Olmstead R, Carroll JE. Sleep disturbance, sleep duration, and inflammation: A systematic review and meta-analysis of cohort studies and experimental sleep deprivation. *Biol Psychiatry* 2016;80(1):40-52.
- 28. Park H, Tsai KM, Dahl RE, et al. Sleep and inflammation during adolescence. *Psychosom Med* 2016;78(6):677-85.
- 29. Xie J, Li Y, Zhang Y, et al. Sleep duration and metabolic syndrome: An updated systematic review and meta-analysis. *Sleep medicine reviews* 2021;59:101451.
- 30. Spiegel K, Leproult R, L'Hermite-Balériaux M, et al. Leptin levels are dependent on sleep duration: Relationships with sympathovagal balance, carbohydrate regulation, cortisol, and thyrotropin. *The Journal of Clinical Endocrinology & Metabolism* 2004;89(11):5762-71.
- 31. Schmid SM, Hallschmid M, Jauch-Chara K, et al. A single night of sleep deprivation increases ghrelin levels and feelings of hunger in normal-weight healthy men. *Journal of sleep research* 2008;17(3):331-4.
- 32. Guilleminault C, Powell NB, Martinez S, et al. Preliminary observations on the effects of sleep time in a sleep restriction paradigm. *Sleep Med* 2003;4(3):177-84.
- 33. Taheri S, Lin L, Austin D, et al. Short sleep duration is associated with reduced leptin, elevated ghrelin, and increased body mass index. *PLoS Med* 2004;1(3):e62-e.
- 34. Chaput JP, Després JP, Bouchard C, et al. Short sleep duration is associated with reduced leptin levels and increased adiposity: Results from the quebec family study. *Obesity (Silver Spring, Md)* 2007;15(1):253-61.
- 35. Wong PM, Manuck SB, DiNardo MM, et al. Shorter sleep duration is associated with decreased insulin sensitivity in healthy white men. *Sleep* 2015;38(2):223-31.
- 36. Liu A, Kushida CA, Reaven GM. Habitual shortened sleep and insulin resistance: An independent relationship in obese individuals. *Metabolism* 2013;62(11):1553-6.
- 37. Howard BV. Insulin resistance and lipid metabolism. *The American journal of cardiology* 1999;84(1a):28j-32j.
- 38. Makarem N, Shechter A, Carnethon MR, et al. Sleep duration and blood pressure: Recent advances and future directions. *Current hypertension reports* 2019;21(5):33.
- 39. Mullington JM, Haack M, Toth M, et al. Cardiovascular, inflammatory, and metabolic consequences of sleep deprivation. *Progress in cardiovascular diseases* 2009;51(4):294-302.

- 40. Wheaton AG, Jones SE, Cooper AC, et al. Short sleep duration among middle school and high school students united states, 2015. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep* 67(3):85-90 2018;67(3).
- 41. Liu Y, Wheaton AG, Chapman DP, et al. Prevalence of healthy sleep duration among adults--united states, 2014 [electronic article]. *MMWR Morbidity and mortality weekly report*. Advance Access: 2016/02//. (DOI:10.15585/mmwr.mm6506a1).
- 42. Guglielmo D, Gazmararian JA, Chung J, et al. Racial/ethnic sleep disparities in us school-aged children and adolescents: A review of the literature. *Sleep health* 2018;4(1):68-80.
- 43. Johnson DA, Jackson CL, Williams NJ, et al. Are sleep patterns influenced by race/ethnicity a marker of relative advantage or disadvantage? Evidence to date. *Nat Sci Sleep* 2019;11:79-95.
- 44. Williams DR, Mohammed SA. Discrimination and racial disparities in health: Evidence and needed research. *J Behav Med* 2009;32(1):20-47.
- 45. Billings ME, Hale L, Johnson DA. Physical and social environment relationship with sleep health and disorders. *Chest* 2019.
- 46. Slopen N, Lewis TT, Williams DR. Discrimination and sleep: A systematic review. *Sleep medicine* 2016;18:88-95.
- 47. Jackson CL, Redline S, Kawachi I, et al. Racial disparities in short sleep duration by occupation and industry. *American journal of epidemiology* 2013;178(9):1442-51.
- 48. Grandner MA, Williams NJ, Knutson KL, et al. Sleep disparity, race/ethnicity, and socioeconomic position. *Sleep Medicine* 2016;18:7-18.
- 49. Martinez-Miller EE, Prather AA, Robinson WR, et al. Us acculturation and poor sleep among an intergenerational cohort of adult latinos in sacramento, california. *Sleep* 2019;42(3):zsy246.
- 50. Ghani SB, Delgadillo ME, Granados K, et al. Acculturation associated with sleep duration, sleep quality, and sleep disorders at the us-mexico border. *Int J Environ Res Public Health* 2020;17(19):7138.
- 51. Johnson DA, Lisabeth L, Lewis TT, et al. The contribution of psychosocial stressors to sleep among african americans in the jackson heart study. *Sleep* 2016;39(7):1411-9.
- 52. Kim E-J, Dimsdale JE. The effect of psychosocial stress on sleep: A review of polysomnographic evidence. *Behavioral sleep medicine* 2007;5(4):256-78.
- 53. Phillips SP. Defining and measuring gender: A social determinant of health whose time has come. *Int J Equity Health* 2005;4:11-.
- 54. Keyes KM, Maslowsky J, Hamilton A, et al. The great sleep recession: Changes in sleep duration among us adolescents, 1991–2012. *Pediatrics* 2015:peds.2014-707.
- 55. Maslowsky J, Özer EJ. Developmental trends in sleep duration in adolescence and young adulthood: Evidence from a national united states sample. *The Journal of adolescent health : official publication of the Society for Adolescent Medicine* 2014;54(6):691-7.
- 56. James S, Chang AM, Buxton OM, et al. Disparities in adolescent sleep health by sex and ethnoracial group. *SSM Popul Health* 2020;11:100581.
- 57. Matthews KA, Hall M, Dahl RE. Sleep in healthy black and white adolescents. *Pediatrics* 2014;133(5):e1189-e96.
- 58. Moore M, Kirchner HL, Drotar D, et al. Correlates of adolescent sleep time and variability in sleep time: The role of individual and health related characteristics. *Sleep Medicine* 2011;12(3):239-45.
- 59. Hoyt LT, Deardorff J, Marceau K, et al. Girls' sleep trajectories across the pubertal transition: Emerging racial/ethnic differences. *The Journal of adolescent health : official publication of the Society for Adolescent Medicine* 2018;62(4):496-503.

- 60. Wang J, Kwok MK, Au Yeung SL, et al. Age of puberty and sleep duration: Observational and mendelian randomization study. *Scientific reports* 2020;10(1):3202.
- 61. Meers J, Stout-Aguilar J, Nowakowski S. Chapter 3 sex differences in sleep health. In: Grandner MA, ed. *Sleep and health*: Academic Press, 2019:21-9.
- 62. East PL. Children's provision of family caregiving: Benefit or burden? *Child Dev Perspect* 2010;4(1):10.1111/j.750-8606.2009.00118.x.
- 63. Branum AM, Rossen LM, Schoendorf KC. Trends in caffeine intake among us children and adolescents. *Pediatrics* 2014;133(3):386.
- 64. Bucksch J, Sigmundova D, Hamrik Z, et al. International trends in adolescent screentime behaviors from 2002 to 2010. *Journal of Adolescent Health* 2016;58(4):417-25.
- 65. Krueger PM, Friedman EM. Sleep duration in the united states: A cross-sectional population-based study. *American journal of epidemiology* 2009;169(9):1052-63.
- 66. Basner M, Dinges DF. Sleep duration in the united states 2003–2016: First signs of success in the fight against sleep deficiency? *Sleep* 2018;41(4).
- 67. Moore PJ, Adler NE, Williams DR, et al. Socioeconomic status and health: The role of sleep. *Psychosom Med* 2002;64(2):337-44.
- 68. Burgard SA, Ailshire JA. Gender and time for sleep among u.S. Adults. *Am Sociol Rev* 2013;78(1):51-69.
- 69. Whinnery J, Jackson N, Rattanaumpawan P, et al. Short and long sleep duration associated with race/ethnicity, sociodemographics, and socioeconomic position. *Sleep* 2014;37(3):601-11.
- 70. Shankar A, Charumathi S, Kalidindi S. Sleep duration and self-rated health: The national health interview survey 2008. *Sleep* 2011;34(9):1173-7.
- 71. Pengo MF, Won CH, Bourjeily G. Sleep in women across the life span. *Chest* 2018;154(1):196-206.
- 72. Quinn MM, Smith PM. Gender, work, and health. *Annals of Work Exposures and Health* 2018;62(4):389-92.
- 73. England P, Levine A, Mishel E. Progress toward gender equality in the united states has slowed or stalled. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 2020;117(13):6990-7.
- 74. Hazel KL, Kleyman KS. Gender and sex inequalities: Implications and resistance. *Journal of Prevention & Intervention in the Community* 2020;48(4):281-92.
- 75. Buxton OM, Shea SA. Bidirectional relationships between sleep and work. *Sleep health* 2020;6(3):259-61.
- 76. Tifferet S. Gender differences in social support on social network sites: A meta-analysis. *Cyberpsychology, Behavior, and Social Networking* 2020;23(4):199-209.
- 77. Reevy GM, Maslach C. Use of social support: Gender and personality differences. *Sex Roles* 2001;44(7):437-59.
- 78. Tamres LK, Janicki D, Helgeson VS. Sex differences in coping behavior: A meta-analytic review and an examination of relative coping. *Personality and Social Psychology Review* 2002;6(1):2-30.
- 79. Kent de Grey RG, Uchino BN, Trettevik R, et al. Social support and sleep: A metaanalysis. *Health psychology : official journal of the Division of Health Psychology, American Psychological Association* 2018;37(8):787-98.
- 80. Krause N, Rainville G. Exploring the relationship between social support and sleep. *Health Education & Behavior* 2019;47(1):153-61.
- 81. Ruggiero AR, Peach HD, Gaultney JF. Association of sleep attitudes with sleep hygiene, duration, and quality: A survey exploration of the moderating effect of age, gender, race, and perceived socioeconomic status. *Health Psychology and Behavioral Medicine* 2019;7(1):19-44.

- 82. Bowleg L. The problem with the phrase women and minorities: Intersectionality-an important theoretical framework for public health. *American journal of public health* 2012;102(7):1267-73.
- 83. Crenshaw K. Demarginalizing the intersection of race and sex: A black feminist critique of antidiscrimination doctrine, feminist theory and antiracist politics. *The University of Chicago Legal Forum* 1989;140:139-67.
- 84. Lauderdale DS, Knutson KL, Yan LL, et al. Objectively measured sleep characteristics among early-middle-aged adults: The cardia study. *American journal of epidemiology* 2006;164(1):5-16.
- 85. Chen X, Wang R, Zee P, et al. Racial/ethnic differences in sleep disturbances: The multi-ethnic study of atherosclerosis (mesa). *Sleep* 2015;38(6):877-88.
- 86. Reither EN, Krueger PM, Hale L, et al. Ethnic variation in the association between sleep and body mass among us adolescents. *Int J Obes (Lond)* 2014;38(7):944-9.
- 87. Petrov ME, Long DL, Grandner MA, et al. Racial differences in sleep duration intersect with sex, socioeconomic status, and u.S. Geographic region: The regards study. *Sleep health* 2020;6(4):442-50.
- 88. Carskadon MA. Sleep in adolescents: The perfect storm. *Pediatr Clin North Am* 2011;58(3):637-47.
- 89. Wheaton AG, Chapman DP, Croft JB. School start times, sleep, behavioral, health, and academic outcomes: A review of the literature. *J Sch Health* 2016;86(5):363-81.
- 90. Lenz B. The transition from adolescence to young adulthood: A theoretical perspective. *J Sch Nurs* 2001;17(6):300-6.
- 91. Suglia SF, Kara S, Robinson WR. Sleep duration and obesity among adolescents transitioning to adulthood: Do results differ by sex? *The Journal of Pediatrics* 2014;165(4):750-4.
- 92. Gangwisch JE, Malaspina D, Babiss LA, et al. Short sleep duration as a risk factor for hypercholesterolemia: Analyses of the national longitudinal study of adolescent health. *Sleep* 2010;33(7):956-61.
- 93. Krueger PM, Reither EN, Peppard PE, et al. Cumulative exposure to short sleep and body mass outcomes: A prospective study. *Journal of sleep research* 2015;24(6):629-38.
- 94. Bakour C, Schwartz SW, Wang W, et al. Sleep duration patterns from adolescence to young adulthood and the risk of asthma. *Annals of epidemiology* 2020;49:20-6.
- 95. Kramer Fiala Machado A, Wendt A, Baptista Menezes AM, et al. Sleep duration trajectories from adolescence to emerging adulthood: Findings from a population-based birth cohort. *Journal of sleep research* 2020;n/a(n/a):e13155.
- 96. Hayley AC, Skogen JC, Overland S, et al. Trajectories and stability of self-reported short sleep duration from adolescence to adulthood. *Journal of sleep research* 2015;24(6):621-8.
- 97. Lee CG, Park S, Yoo S. The longitudinal effect of parental support during adolescence on the trajectory of sport participation from adolescence through young adulthood. *Journal of Sport and Health Science* 2018;7(1):70-6.
- 98. Yip T, Cheon YM, Wang Y, et al. Racial disparities in sleep: Associations with discrimination among ethnic/racial minority adolescents. *Child development* 2020;91(3):914-31.
- 99. Majeno A, Tsai KM, Huynh VW, et al. Discrimination and sleep difficulties during adolescence: The mediating roles of loneliness and perceived stress. *Journal of youth and adolescence* 2018;47(1):135-47.
- 100. Singh GK, Kenney MK. Rising prevalence and neighborhood, social, and behavioral determinants of sleep problems in us children and adolescents, 2003-2012. *Sleep Disorders* 2013;2013:394320-.

- 101. Bagley EJ, Fuller-Rowell TE, Saini EK, et al. Neighborhood economic deprivation and social fragmentation: Associations with children's sleep. *Behavioral Sleep Medicine* 2018;16(6):542-52.
- 102. Sheehan C, Powers D, Margerison-Zilko C, et al. Historical neighborhood poverty trajectories and child sleep. *Sleep health* 2018;4(2):127-34.
- 103. McLaughlin Crabtree V, Beal Korhonen J, Montgomery-Downs HE, et al. Cultural influences on the bedtime behaviors of young children. *Sleep Medicine* 2005;6(4):319-24.
- 104. Adkins A, Makarewicz C, Scanze M, et al. Contextualizing walkability: Do relationships between built environments and walking vary by socioeconomic context? *Journal of the American Planning Association* 2017;83(3):296-314.
- 105. Halperin D. Environmental noise and sleep disturbances: A threat to health? *Sleep Sci* 2014;7(4):209-12.
- 106. Tenero L, Piacentini G, Nosetti L, et al. Indoor/outdoor not-voluptuary-habit pollution and sleep-disordered breathing in children: A systematic review. *Transl Pediatr* 2017;6(2):104-10.
- 107. Diez Roux AV. Neighborhoods and health: What do we know? What should we do? *American journal of public health* 2016;106(3):430-1.
- 108. Pabayo R, Molnar BE, Street N, et al. The relationship between social fragmentation and sleep among adolescents living in boston, massachusetts. *Journal of public health* (Oxford, England) 2014;36(4):587-98.
- 109. Meldrum RC, Jackson DB, Archer R, et al. Perceived school safety, perceived neighborhood safety, and insufficient sleep among adolescents. *Sleep Health* 2018;4(5):429-35.
- 110. Philbrook LE, Buckhalt JA, El-Sheikh M. Community violence concerns and adolescent sleep: Physiological regulation and race as moderators. *Journal of sleep research* 2019:e12897.
- 111. Spilsbury JC, Babineau DC, Frame J, et al. Association between children's exposure to a violent event and objectively and subjectively measured sleep characteristics: A pilot longitudinal study. *Journal of sleep research* 2014;23(5):585-94.
- 112. Ribeiro AI, Amaro J, Lisi C, et al. Neighborhood socioeconomic deprivation and allostatic load: A scoping review. *Int J Environ Res Public Health* 2018;15(6):1092.
- 113. Kalmbach DA, Anderson JR, Drake CL. The impact of stress on sleep: Pathogenic sleep reactivity as a vulnerability to insomnia and circadian disorders. *Journal of sleep research* 2018;27(6):e12710-e.
- 114. Kaiser P, Auchincloss AH, Moore K, et al. Associations of neighborhood socioeconomic and racial/ethnic characteristics with changes in survey-based neighborhood quality, 2000-2011. *Health & Place* 2016;42:30-6.
- 115. Wang R, Dong Y, Weng J, et al. Associations among neighborhood, race, and sleep apnea severity in children. A six-city analysis. *Annals of the American Thoracic Society* 2017;14(1):76-84.
- 116. Graham C, Reither EN, Ciciurkaite G, et al. Does context matter? A multilevel analysis of neighborhood disadvantage and children's sleep health. *Sleep health* 2020.
- 117. Fuller-Rowell T, Nichols O, Robinson A, et al. Racial disparities in sleep health between black and white young adults: The role of neighborhood safety in childhood. *Sleep Medicine* 2021;81.
- 118. Felden ÉPG, Leite CR, Rebelatto CF, et al. Sleep in adolescents of different socioeconomic status: A systematic review. *Revista Paulista de Pediatria (English Edition)* 2015;33(4):467-73.

- 119. Tandon PS, Zhou C, Sallis JF, et al. Home environment relationships with children's physical activity, sedentary time, and screen time by socioeconomic status. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity* 2012;9(1):88.
- 120. Salway RE, Emm-Collison L, Sebire S, et al. Associations between socioeconomic position and changes in children's screen-viewing between ages 6 and 9: A longitudinal study. *BMJ Open* 2019;9(12):e027481.
- 121. Adam EK, Snell EK, Pendry P. Sleep timing and quantity in ecological and family context: A nationally representative time-diary study. *Journal of family psychology : JFP : journal of the Division of Family Psychology of the American Psychological Association (Division 43)* 2007;21(1):4-19.
- 122. Short MA, Gradisar M, Wright H, et al. Time for bed: Parent-set bedtimes associated with improved sleep and daytime functioning in adolescents. *Sleep* 2011;34(6):797-800.
- 123. Pyper E, Harrington D, Manson H. Do parents' support behaviours predict whether or not their children get sufficient sleep? A cross-sectional study. *BMC Public Health* 2017;17(1):432-.
- 124. Troxel WM, Lee L, Hall M, et al. Single-parent family structure and sleep problems in black and white adolescents. *Sleep Med* 2014;15(2):255-61.
- 125. Laursen B. Conflict between mothers and adolescents in single-mother, blended, and two-biological-parent families. *Parent Sci Pract* 2005;5(4):347-70.
- 126. Walker LJ, Hennig KH. Parent/child relationships in single-parent families. *Canadian Journal of Behavioural Science / Revue canadienne des sciences du comportement* 1997;29(1):63-75.
- 127. Kelly RJ, Marks BT, El-Sheikh M. Longitudinal relations between parent-child conflict and children's adjustment: The role of children's sleep. *Journal of abnormal child psychology* 2014;42(7):1175-85.
- 128. Dahl RE, Lewin DS. Pathways to adolescent health sleep regulation and behavior. *The Journal of adolescent health : official publication of the Society for Adolescent Medicine* 2002;31(6 Suppl):175-84.
- 129. Livingston G. The changing profile of unmarried parents. In: Center PR, ed: Pew Research Center, 2018.
- 130. Semega J, Kollar M, Creamer J, et al. Income and poverty in the united states: 2018. *Current Population Reports*. Washington, DC: U.S. Census Bureau, 2019:P60-266.
- 131. Harris KM, Halpern CT, Whitsel E, et al. The national longitudinal study of adolescent to adult health: Research design 2009. (<u>http://www.cpc.unc.edu/projects/addhealth/design</u>). (Accessed 2/5/2019).
- 132. Adler NE, Rehkopf DH. U.S. Disparities in health: Descriptions, causes, and mechanisms. *Annual Review of Public Health* 2008;29(1):235-52.
- 133. Jung T, Wickrama KAS. An introduction to latent class growth analysis and growth mixture modeling. *Social and Personality Psychology Compass* 2008;2(1):302-17.
- 134. St-Onge M-P, Grandner MA, Brown D, et al. Sleep duration and quality: Impact on lifestyle behaviors and cardiometabolic health: A scientific statement from the american heart association. *Circulation* 2016;134(18):e367-e86.
- 135. Jackson CL, Redline S, Emmons KM. Sleep as a potential fundamental contributor to disparities in cardiovascular health. *Annual Review of Public Health* 2015;36:417-40.
- 136. McKnight-Eily LR, Eaton DK, Lowry R, et al. Relationships between hours of sleep and health-risk behaviors in us adolescent students. *Prev Med* 2011;53(4-5):271-3.
- 137. Wheaton AG, Olsen EO, Miller GF, et al. Sleep duration and injury-related risk behaviors among high school students--united states, 2007-2013. *MMWR Morbidity and mortality weekly report* 2016;65(13):337-41.

- 138. Gillis BT, Shimizu M, Philbrook LE, et al. Racial disparities in adolescent sleep duration: Physical activity as a protective factor. *Cultural diversity & ethnic minority psychology* 2020.
- 139. Maume DJ. Social ties and adolescent sleep disruption. *Journal of health and social behavior* 2013;54(4):498-515.
- 140. Harris KM, Halpern CT, Whitsel EA, et al. Cohort profile: The national longitudinal study of adolescent to adult health (add health). *International journal of epidemiology* 2019;48(5):1415-k.
- 141. Chen P, Harris KM. Guidelines for analyzing add health data. In: Hill CPCatUoNCaC, ed, 2020.
- 142. Boone-Heinonen J, Evenson KR, Song Y, et al. Built and socioeconomic environments: Patterning and associations with physical activity in u.S. Adolescents. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity* 2010;7(1):45.
- 143. U.S. Dept. Of Justice FBoI. Uniform crime reporting program data (united states: County-level detailed arrest and offense data), 1992. In: Research I-uCfPaS, ed. Ann Arbor, Michigan: Inter-university Consortium for Political and Social Research, 1992.
- 144. Diez Roux AV, Merkin SS, Arnett D, et al. Neighborhood of residence and incidence of coronary heart disease. *The New England journal of medicine* 2001;345(2):99-106.
- 145. Martin CL, Kane JB, Miles GL, et al. Neighborhood disadvantage across the transition from adolescence to adulthood and risk of metabolic syndrome. *Health & place* 2019;57:131-8.
- 146. Marley TL, Metzger MW. A longitudinal study of structural risk factors for obesity and diabetes among american indian young adults, 1994-2008. *Preventing Chronic Disease* 2015;12:E69-E.
- 147. Dawson CT, Wu W, Fennie KP, et al. Perceived neighborhood social cohesion moderates the relationship between neighborhood structural disadvantage and adolescent depressive symptoms. *Health Place* 2019;56:88-98.
- 148. Harris KM. The health status and risk behavior of adolescents in immigrant families. In: Hernandez DJ, ed. *Children of immigrants: Health, adjustment, and public assistance.* Washington, DC: National Academy Press, 1999:286-347.
- 149. Watson NF, Badr MS, Belenky G, et al. Recommended amount of sleep for a healthy adult: A joint consensus statement of the american academy of sleep medicine and sleep research society. *Sleep* 2015;38(6):843-4.
- 150. Paruthi S, Brooks LJ, D'Ambrosio C, et al. Consensus statement of the american academy of sleep medicine on the recommended amount of sleep for healthy children: Methodology and discussion. *J Clin Sleep Med* 2016;12(11):1549-61.
- 151. Frequently asked questions. University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, Carolina Population Center; 2020. (<u>https://www.cpc.unc.edu/projects/addhealth/faqs/index.html#what-is-best-way-compute-race</u>). (Accessed 5/31 2020).
- 152. Sas/stat® 15.1 user's guide. Cary, NC: SAS Institute Inc., 2018.
- 153. Bollen KA, Davis WR. Causal indicator models: Identification, estimation, and testing. *Structural Equation Modeling: A Multidisciplinary Journal* 2009;16(3):498-522.
- 154. Muthén LK, Muthén BO. Mplus user's guide. Eighth edition. Los Angeles, CA: Muthén & Muthén, (1998-2017).
- 155. Hu L-t, Bentler PM. Cutoff criteria for fit indexes in covariance structure analysis: Conventional criteria versus new alternatives. *Structural Equation Modeling* 1999;6(1):1-55.
- 156. Maslowsky J, Ozer EJ. Developmental trends in sleep duration in adolescence and young adulthood: Evidence from a national united states sample. *The Journal of*

adolescent health : official publication of the Society for Adolescent Medicine 2014;54(6):691-7.

- 157. Combs D, Goodwin JL, Quan SF, et al. Longitudinal differences in sleep duration in hispanic and caucasian children. *Sleep Med* 2016;18:61-6.
- 158. Goodwin JL, Silva GE, Kaemingk KL, et al. Comparison between reported and recorded total sleep time and sleep latency in 6- to 11-year-old children: The tucson children's assessment of sleep apnea study (tucasa). *Sleep and Breathing* 2007;11(2):85-92.
- 159. Marczyk Organek KD, Taylor DJ, Petrie T, et al. Adolescent sleep disparities: Sex and racial/ethnic differences. *Sleep health* 2015;1(1):36-9.
- 160. Master L, Nye RT, Lee S, et al. Bidirectional, daily temporal associations between sleep and physical activity in adolescents. *Scientific reports* 2019;9(1):7732.
- 161. Williams JA, Zimmerman FJ, Bell JF. Norms and trends of sleep time among us children and adolescents. *JAMA pediatrics* 2013;167(1):55-60.
- 162. Roberts RE, Lee ES, Hemandez M, et al. Symptoms of insomnia among adolescents in the lower rio grande valley of texas. *Sleep* 2004;27(4):751-60.
- 163. Ebin VJ, Sneed CD, Morisky DE, et al. Acculturation and interrelationships between problem and health-promoting behaviors among latino adolescents. *Journal of Adolescent Health* 2001;28(1):62-72.
- 164. Miguez MJ, Bueno D, Perez C. Disparities in sleep health among adolescents: The role of sex, age, and migration. *Sleep Disorders* 2020;2020:5316364.
- 165. McHale ŠM, Kim JY, Kan M, et al. Sleep in mexican-american adolescents: Social ecological and well-being correlates. *Journal of youth and adolescence* 2011;40(6):666-79.
- 166. Rao U, Hammen CL, Poland RE. Ethnic differences in electroencephalographic sleep patterns in adolescents. *Asian journal of psychiatry* 2009;2(1):17-24.
- 167. Malone SK, Zemel B, Compher C, et al. Characteristics associated with sleep duration, chronotype, and social jet lag in adolescents. *The Journal of School Nursing* 2015;32(2):120-31.
- 168. Troxel WM, Shih RA, Ewing B, et al. Examination of neighborhood disadvantage and sleep in a multi-ethnic cohort of adolescents. *Health & place* 2017;45:39-45.
- 169. Seo WH, Kwon JH, Eun SH, et al. Effect of socio-economic status on sleep. *Journal of paediatrics and child health* 2017;53(6):592-7.
- 170. Bapat R, van Geel M, Vedder P. Socio-economic status, time spending, and sleep duration in indian children and adolescents. *J Child Fam Stud* 2017;26(1):80-7.
- 171. Kim J, Noh JW, Kim A, et al. Demographic and socioeconomic influences on sleep patterns among adolescent students. *Int J Environ Res Public Health* 2020;17(12).
- 172. Arman AR, Ay P, Fis NP, et al. Association of sleep duration with socio-economic status and behavioural problems among schoolchildren. *Acta paediatrica (Oslo, Norway : 1992)* 2011;100(3):420-4.
- 173. Hertog E, Zhou M. Japanese adolescents' time use: The role of household income and parental education. *Demographic research* 2021;44:225-38.
- 174. Zhang J, Li AM, Fok TF, et al. Roles of parental sleep/wake patterns, socioeconomic status, and daytime activities in the sleep/wake patterns of children. *J Pediatr* 2010;156(4):606-12.e5.
- 175. Luthar SS, Shoum KA, Brown PJ. Extracurricular involvement among affluent youth: A scapegoat for "ubiquitous achievement pressures"? *Dev Psychol* 2006;42(3):583-97.
- 176. Short MA, Gradisar M, Lack LC, et al. A cross-cultural comparison of sleep duration between us and australian adolescents: The effect of school start time, parent-set bedtimes, and extracurricular load. *Health Educ Behav* 2013;40(3):323-30.
- 177. Roberts RE, Roberts CR, Xing Y. Restricted sleep among adolescents: Prevalence, incidence, persistence, and associated factors. *Behav Sleep Med* 2011;9(1):18-30.

- 178. Assari S, Preiser B, Lankarani MM, et al. Subjective socioeconomic status moderates the association between discrimination and depression in african american youth. *Brain Sci* 2018;8(4).
- 179. Gordon-Larsen P, Adair LS, Popkin BM. The relationship of ethnicity, socioeconomic factors, and overweight in u.S. Adolescents. *Obesity Research* 2003;11(1):121-9.
- 180. Mello D, Wiebe D. The role of socioeconomic status in latino health disparities among youth with type 1 diabetes: A systematic review. *Current Diabetes Reports* 2020;20(11):56.
- 181. Assari S, Gibbons FX, Simons R. Depression among black youth; interaction of class and place. *Brain Sci* 2018;8(6):108.
- 182. Assari S, Gibbons FX, Simons RL. Perceived discrimination among black youth: An 18year longitudinal study. *Behav Sci (Basel)* 2018;8(5):44.
- 183. Assari S. Does school racial composition explain why high income black youth perceive more discrimination? A gender analysis. *Brain Sci* 2018;8(8):140.
- 184. Colen CG, Ramey DM, Cooksey EC, et al. Racial disparities in health among nonpoor african americans and hispanics: The role of acute and chronic discrimination. *Soc Sci Med* 2018;199:167-80.
- 185. Bridget JG, Jacob EC, Whitney S-B, et al. Perceived discrimination and adolescent sleep in a community sample. *RSF: The Russell Sage Foundation Journal of the Social Sciences* 2018;4(4):43-61.
- 186. Huynh VW, Gillen-O'Neel C. Discrimination and sleep: The protective role of school belonging. *Youth & Society* 2013;48(5):649-72.
- 187. Marco CA, Wolfson AR, Sparling M, et al. Family socioeconomic status and sleep patterns of young adolescents. *Behavioral Sleep Medicine* 2011;10(1):70-80.
- 188. El-Sheikh M, Bagley EJ, Keiley M, et al. Economic adversity and children's sleep problems: Multiple indicators and moderation of effects. *Health psychology : official journal of the Division of Health Psychology, American Psychological Association* 2013;32(8):849-59.
- 189. Fuligni AJ, Tsai KM, Krull JL, et al. Daily concordance between parent and adolescent sleep habits. *The Journal of adolescent health : official publication of the Society for Adolescent Medicine* 2015;56(2):244-50.
- 190. Vidal Bustamante CM, Rodman AM, Dennison MJ, et al. Within-person fluctuations in stressful life events, sleep, and anxiety and depression symptoms during adolescence: A multiwave prospective study. *Journal of Child Psychology and Psychiatry*;n/a(n/a).
- 191. Schmeer KK, Tarrence J, Browning CR, et al. Family contexts and sleep during adolescence. *SSM Population Health* 2019;7:100320.
- 192. Hatch SL, Dohrenwend BP. Distribution of traumatic and other stressful life events by race/ethnicity, gender, ses and age: A review of the research. *American journal of community psychology* 2007;40(3-4):313-32.
- 193. Alfano CA, Smith VC, Reynolds KC, et al. The parent-child sleep interactions scale (psis) for preschoolers: Factor structure and initial psychometric properties. *Journal of Clinical Sleep Medicine* 2013;09(11):1153-60.
- 194. Wolfson AR, Carskadon MA, Acebo C, et al. Evidence for the validity of a sleep habits survey for adolescents. *Sleep* 2003;26(2):213-6.
- 195. Lauderdale DS, Knutson KL, Yan LL, et al. Self-reported and measured sleep duration: How similar are they? *Epidemiology* 2008;19(6):838-45.
- 196. Jackson CL, Patel SR, Jackson WB, et al. Agreement between self-reported and objectively measured sleep duration among white, black, hispanic, and chinese adults in the united states: Multi-ethnic study of atherosclerosis. *Sleep* 2018;41(6).
- 197. Spilsbury JC, Storfer-Isser A, Drotar D, et al. Effects of the home environment on schoolaged children's sleep. *Sleep* 2005;28(11):1419-27.
- 198. Institute of Medicine Committee on Sleep M, Research. The national academies collection: Reports funded by national institutes of health. In: Colten HR, Altevogt BM, eds. *Sleep disorders and sleep deprivation: An unmet public health problem.* Washington (DC): National Academies Press (US), 2006.
- 199. Tarokh L, Saletin JM, Carskadon MA. Sleep in adolescence: Physiology, cognition and mental health. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev* 2016;70:182-8.
- 200. Chaput JP, Gray CE, Poitras VJ, et al. Systematic review of the relationships between sleep duration and health indicators in school-aged children and youth. *Applied physiology, nutrition, and metabolism = Physiologie appliquee, nutrition et metabolisme* 2016;41(6 Suppl 3):S266-82.
- 201. Cooper CB, Neufeld EV, Dolezal BA, et al. Sleep deprivation and obesity in adults: A brief narrative review. *BMJ Open Sport & Exercise Medicine* 2018;4(1):e000392.
- 202. Shan Z, Ma H, Xie M, et al. Sleep duration and risk of type 2 diabetes: A meta-analysis of prospective studies. *Diabetes care* 2015;38(3):529-37.
- 203. Zhai L, Zhang H, Zhang D. Sleep duration and depression among adults: A metaanalysis of prospective studies. *Depression and anxiety* 2015;32(9):664-70.
- 204. Grandner MA, Drummond SP. Who are the long sleepers? Towards an understanding of the mortality relationship. *Sleep medicine reviews* 2007;11(5):341-60.
- 205. Blum RW, Astone NM, Decker MR, et al. A conceptual framework for early adolescence: A platform for research. *Int J Adolesc Med Health* 2014;26(3):321-31.
- 206. Arnett JJ. Emerging adulthood. A theory of development from the late teens through the twenties. *The American psychologist* 2000;55(5):469-80.
- 207. Vespa J, Bureau USC. The changing economics and demographics of young adulthood: 1975-2016. 2017.
- 208. Muthén LK. Personal correspondence. August 17, 2020.
- 209. Nylund KL, Asparouhov T, Muthén BO. Deciding on the number of classes in latent class analysis and growth mixture modeling: A monte carlo simulation study. *Structural Equation Modeling: A Multidisciplinary Journal* 2007;14(4):535-69.
- 210. Edwards F, Lee H, Esposito M. Risk of being killed by police use of force in the united states by age, race–ethnicity, and sex. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 2019;116(34):16793.
- 211. Kwate NO, Goodman MS. Racism at the intersections: Gender and socioeconomic differences in the experience of racism among african americans. *The American journal of orthopsychiatry* 2015;85(5):397-408.
- 212. McLeod MN, Heller D, Manze MG, et al. Police interactions and the mental health of black americans: A systematic review. *Journal of racial and ethnic health disparities* 2020;7(1):10-27.
- 213. Watkins DC, Walker RL, Griffith DM. A meta-study of black male mental health and wellbeing. *Journal of Black Psychology* 2009;36(3):303-30.
- 214. Lindsey MA, Marcell AV. "We're going through a lot of struggles that people don't even know about": The need to understand african american males' help-seeking for mental health on multiple levels. *American journal of men's health* 2012;6(5):354-64.
- 215. Lindsey MA, Korr WS, Broitman M, et al. Help-seeking behaviors and depression among african american adolescent boys. *Social work* 2006;51(1):49-58.
- 216. Jones NL, Gilman SE, Cheng TL, et al. Life course approaches to the causes of health disparities. *American journal of public health* 2019;109(S1):S48-S55.
- 217. Hale L, James S. Sociodemographic, psychosocial, and contextual factors in children's sleep. 2017:153-73.
- 218. Crowley SJ, Wolfson AR, Tarokh L, et al. An update on adolescent sleep: New evidence informing the perfect storm model. *Journal of adolescence* 2018;67:55-65.

- 219. Moen P, Kelly EL, Tranby E, et al. Changing work, changing health: Can real work-time flexibility promote health behaviors and well-being? *Journal of health and social behavior* 2011;52(4):404-29.
- 220. Olson R, Crain TL, Bodner TE, et al. A workplace intervention improves sleep: Results from the randomized controlled work, family, and health study. *Sleep health* 2015;1(1):55-65.
- 221. Zimmermann LK. Chronotype and the transition to college life. *Chronobiology international* 2011;28(10):904-10.
- 222. Aronson P. The markers and meanings of growing up: Contemporary young women's transition from adolescence to adulthood. *Gend Soc* 2008;22:56-82.
- 223. Hale L, Rivero-Fuentes E. Negative acculturation in sleep duration among mexican immigrants and mexican americans. *Journal of immigrant and minority health* 2011;13(2):402-7.
- 224. Patel SR, Sotres-Alvarez D, Castañeda SF, et al. Social and health correlates of sleep duration in a us hispanic population: Results from the hispanic community health study/study of latinos. *Sleep* 2015;38(10):1515-22.
- 225. Arora T, Broglia E, Pushpakumar D, et al. An investigation into the strength of the association and agreement levels between subjective and objective sleep duration in adolescents. *PloS one* 2013;8(8):e72406.
- 226. Matthews KA, Patel SR, Pantesco EJ, et al. Similarities and differences in estimates of sleep duration by polysomnography, actigraphy, diary, and self-reported habitual sleep in a community sample. *Sleep health* 2018;4(1):96-103.
- 227. Cespedes EM, Hu FB, Redline S, et al. Comparison of self-reported sleep duration with actigraphy: Results from the hispanic community health study/study of latinos sueño ancillary study. *American journal of epidemiology* 2016;183(6):561-73.
- 228. Hale L. Who has time to sleep? *Journal of public health (Oxford, England)* 2005;27(2):205-11.
- 229. Monk TH, Buysse DJ, Rose LR, et al. The sleep of healthy people--a diary study. *Chronobiology international* 2000;17(1):49-60.
- 230. Salk RH, Hyde JS, Abramson LY. Gender differences in depression in representative national samples: Meta-analyses of diagnoses and symptoms. *Psychol Bull* 2017;143(8):783-822.
- 231. Johnson DA, Billings ME, Hale L. Environmental determinants of insufficient sleep and sleep disorders: Implications for population health. *Curr Epidemiol Rep* 2018;5(2):61-9.
- 232. Davis AM, Vinci LM, Okwuosa TM, et al. Cardiovascular health disparities: A systematic review of health care interventions. *Med Care Res Rev* 2007;64(5 Suppl):29S-100S.
- 233. Seravalle G, Mancia G, Grassi G. Sympathetic nervous system, sleep, and hypertension. *Current hypertension reports* 2018;20(9):74.
- 234. Furman D, Campisi J, Verdin E, et al. Chronic inflammation in the etiology of disease across the life span. *Nature Medicine* 2019;25(12):1822-32.
- 235. Besedovsky L, Lange T, Haack M. The sleep-immune crosstalk in health and disease. *Physiol Rev* 2019;99(3):1325-80.
- 236. Savin KL, Patel SR, Clark TL, et al. Relationships of sleep duration, midpoint, and variability with physical activity in the hchs/sol sueño ancillary study. *Behav Sleep Med* 2020:1-12.
- 237. Cash RE, Beverly Hery CM, Panchal AR, et al. Association between sleep duration and ideal cardiovascular health among us adults, national health and nutrition examination survey, 2013-2016. *Prev Chronic Dis* 2020;17:E43.
- 238. Cleven L, Krell-Roesch J, Nigg CR, et al. The association between physical activity with incident obesity, coronary heart disease, diabetes and hypertension in adults: A

systematic review of longitudinal studies published after 2012. *BMC Public Health* 2020;20(1):726.

- 239. Pescatello LS, Buchner DM, Jakicic JM, et al. Physical activity to prevent and treat hypertension: A systematic review. *Medicine and science in sports and exercise* 2019;51(6):1314-23.
- 240. Beavers KM, Brinkley TE, Nicklas BJ. Effect of exercise training on chronic inflammation. *Clin Chim Acta* 2010;411(11-12):785-93.
- 241. Schoenborn C, Adams PF. Sleep duration as a correlate of smoking, alcohol use, leisure-time physical inactivity, and obesity among adults: United states, 2004-2006. 2008.
- 242. Hamidovic A, de Wit H. Sleep deprivation increases cigarette smoking. *Pharmacol Biochem Behav* 2009;93(3):263-9.
- 243. Chaput JP, McNeil J, Després JP, et al. Short sleep duration is associated with greater alcohol consumption in adults. *Appetite* 2012;59(3):650-5.
- 244. Piano MR. Alcohol's effects on the cardiovascular system. *Alcohol Res* 2017;38(2):219-41.
- 245. Rapp K, Buechele G, Weiland SK. Sleep duration and smoking cessation in student nurses. *Addictive behaviors* 2007;32(7):1505-10.
- 246. Hjorth MF, Chaput J-P, Damsgaard CT, et al. Low physical activity level and short sleep duration are associated with an increased cardio-metabolic risk profile: A longitudinal study in 8-11 year old danish children. *PloS one* 2014;9(8):e104677-e.
- 247. Kaar JL, Schmiege SJ, Kalkwarf HJ, et al. Longitudinal assessment of sleep trajectories during early childhood and their association with obesity. *Childhood Obesity* 2019;16(3):211-7.
- 248. Cespedes EM, Bhupathiraju SN, Li Y, et al. Long-term changes in sleep duration, energy balance and risk of type 2 diabetes. *Diabetologia* 2016;59(1):101-9.
- 249. Ferrie JE, Kivimäki M, Akbaraly TN, et al. Change in sleep duration and type 2 diabetes: The whitehall ii study. *Diabetes care* 2015;38(8):1467-72.
- 250. Lowry R, Eaton DK, Foti K, et al. Association of sleep duration with obesity among us high school students. *Journal of Obesity* 2012;2012:476914.
- 251. Jike M, Itani O, Watanabe N, et al. Long sleep duration and health outcomes: A systematic review, meta-analysis and meta-regression. *Sleep medicine reviews* 2018;39:25-36.
- 252. Seo SH, Shim YS. Association of sleep duration with obesity and cardiometabolic risk factors in children and adolescents: A population-based study. *Scientific reports* 2019;9(1):9463.
- 253. Javaheri S, Storfer-Isser A, Rosen CL, et al. Association of short and long sleep durations with insulin sensitivity in adolescents. *J Pediatr* 2011;158(4):617-23.
- 254. Saelee R, Haardörfer R, Johnson DA, et al. Race/ethnicity and sex differences in sleep duration trajectories from adolescence to adulthood in a us national sample. Unpublished, 2021.
- 255. Whitsel E, Angel R, O'Hara R, et al. Add health wave v documentation: Anthropometric measures, 2020. 2020. (https://doi.org/10.17615/b7dh-4g76). (Accessed).
- 256. Whitsel E, Angel R, O'Hara R, et al. Add health wave v documentation: Cardiovascular measures, 2020. 2020. (<u>https://doi.org/10.17615/gtme-ag52</u>). (Accessed).
- 257. Whitsel E, Angel R, O'Hara R, et al. Add health wave v documentation: Measures of glucose homeostasis, 2020. 2020. (<u>https://doi.org/10.17615/djqy-6508</u>). (Accessed).
- 258. Whitsel EA, Angel R, O'Hara R, et al. Add health wave v documentation: Lipids, 2020. 2020.
- 259. Whitsel EA, Angel R, O'Hara R, et al. Add health wave v documentation: Measures of inflammation and immune function, 2020. 2020.

- 260. Clinical guidelines on the identification, evaluation, and treatment of overweight and obesity in adults--the evidence report. National institutes of health. *Obesity research* 1998;6 Suppl 2:51s-209s.
- 261. 2. Classification and diagnosis of diabetes: Standards of medical care in diabetes— 2018. *Diabetes care* 2018;41(Supplement 1):S13.
- 262. Whelton PK, Carey RM, Aronow WS, et al. 2017 acc/aha/aapa/abc/acpm/ags/apha/ash/aspc/nma/pcna guideline for the prevention, detection, evaluation, and management of high blood pressure in adults: Executive summary: A report of the american college of cardiology/american heart association task force on clinical practice guidelines. *Hypertension (Dallas, Tex : 1979)* 2018;71(6):1269-324.
- 263. Third report of the national cholesterol education program (ncep) expert panel on detection, evaluation, and treatment of high blood cholesterol in adults (adult treatment panel iii) final report. *Circulation* 2002;106(25):3143-421.
- 264. Pearson TA, Mensah GA, Alexander RW, et al. Markers of inflammation and cardiovascular disease: Application to clinical and public health practice: A statement for healthcare professionals from the centers for disease control and prevention and the american heart association. *Circulation* 2003;107(3):499-511.
- 265. Holzhausen EA, Hagen EW, LeCaire T, et al. A comparison of self- and proxy-reported subjective sleep durations with objective actigraphy measurements in a survey of wisconsin children 6–17 years of age. *American journal of epidemiology* 2020.
- 266. Jackson CL, Ward JB, Johnson DA, et al. Concordance between self-reported and actigraphy-assessed sleep duration among african-american adults: Findings from the jackson heart sleep study. *Sleep* 2019.